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1. General information 

1.1 Company description  

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS was established on July 07, 2021 as a financing vehicle and a holding entity 

with no other assets than the shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS. The company has its business office in Vefsn 

municipality. Øyfjellet Wind AS was established on February 17, 2012, the company owns and operates 

the Øyfjellet Wind Farm in Mosjøen. Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS owns this company with 100% 

ownership. 

 

1.2 Organisational structure: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3 Shareholder  

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS is wholly owned by Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS. Øyfjellet Wind Holding 

AS is owned by investment funds and mandates managed or financed by Aquila Capital. All existing 

shareholdings are illustrated above. There are no outstanding options for other companies or individuals to 

acquire additional shares. Aquila Capital aims to promote growth, green industry and green employment 

through long-term investment in renewable energy.   

 

Ultimate shareholders of the group are companies and investment funds managed or financed by the Aquila 

Group. The financing agreements include market standard change of control provisions regarding the 

transfer of shares. All shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS and Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS are pledged to the 

respective Bond Trustees.    

  

1.4 Business overview  

The Øyfjellet Wind Farm is located outside of the city of Mosjøen City in Vefsn municipality in Nordland 

county in Norway. The installation and commissioning of 72 N149/5.x MW turbines, with a hub height of 

105 meters and a rotor diameter of 149 meters, is complete and the wind farm is in full operation since 

November 2022. The wind farm has a capacity of 400MW and an expected annual production volume 

according to the P50 budget of 1,3 TWh. The P50 value represents the estimated annual energy production 

with a 50% profitability of being achieved or exceeded, based on long-term wind data and modelling.  
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1.5 History  

The wind farm development began as a local project around 2011 and is firmly rooted in the local 

community. Øyfjellet Wind Farm has been through a thorough licensing process, providing both individuals 

and organisations with the opportunity to provide comments and suggestions. The Project has been adapted 

on an ongoing basis in keeping with local community feedback. The construction of the farm began in 

December 2019 and was completed in September 2022. The concession period is given for 30 years. 

 

1.6 Corporate governance   

The Group is committed to uphold high standards of corporate governance in all of its activities and believes 

that strong corporate governance is essential to building and maintaining the trust of our shareholders, 

customers, employees, and other stakeholders including the local community. This section of our annual 

report provides an overview of our corporate governance practices and structures.  

  

1.7 Board of Directors  

Our Board of Directors is responsible for the overall direction, management, and control of the company. 

The Board comprises two members, with diverse backgrounds and expertise. The Board of Directors meets 

regularly to review and discuss the company's business, financial performance, and outlook.  

 

Christian Heidfeld – Chairman  

Christian Heidfeld is the Chairman in the Board of Directors in Øyfjellet Wind AS, Øyfjellet Wind 

Investment AS and Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS. He is leading the Asset Management department at Aquila 

Capital and has more than 10 years’ experience with acquisition, management and sale of renewable 

investments in different roles and executive positions. 

 

Daniel Metzger – Board member  

Daniel Metzger is a board member of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS. He is a Director at Aquila Capital, 

part of the Commerzbank Group, with extensive experience in investment and portfolio management within 

the European clean energy infrastructure sector. He holds a PhD in ship finance and maritime policy from 

Helmut Schmidt University, Germany. 

 

There are no provisions in the articles of association which would permit the board members to repurchase 

or issue own shares without a resolution of the shareholder.     
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1.8 Corporate governance policies and procedures  

The Group adheres to relevant regulations and applicable corporate governance codes, including the 

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance and has established a set of corporate governance 

policies and procedures, which are regularly reviewed and updated as necessary. These policies and 

procedures cover a range of areas, including:  

  

Code of Conduct and Ethics: The Code of Conduct sets out the standards of behavior expected of all 

employees, officers, and directors of the company. The Code covers topics such as social responsibility, 

human rights and decent labour practices, environmental commitment, business integrity, health and safety 

commitments, and compliance with laws and regulations. The Company also has a Code of Conduct for 

Business Partners. Acceptance of, and compliance with, the terms and conditions represents a key criterion 

when evaluating and engaging with business partners. In the Code of Conducts for Business Partners, the 

Company emphasises the high ethical standard it promotes. Applicable laws and regulations must be 

observed, with particular focus on the following areas: human rights and labour rights, compliance with 

climate and environmental standards. business integrity and compliance, and commitment to meeting 

health, safety and environmental requirements. 

 

The Company works to have business partners either sign the Code of Conduct for Business Partners, or 

present ethical frameworks with a similar level of commitment. In both the Code of Conduct and the Code 

of Conduct for Business Partners, the Company informs about our whistleblowing system for possible and 

actual incidents.  

  

Risk Management: Our Board of Directors oversees the company’s risk management and accounting 

processes and ensures that appropriate systems are in place to identify, assess, and manage risks. The 

company maintains a system of internal controls to ensure the accuracy of the financial reporting, which 

are designed to prevent and detect errors, fraud, or other irregularities that could materially affect the 

financial statements. The group instructed third parties to oversee the preparation of the financial statements 

and engaged an independent auditor to audit the financial statements annually. 

 

Shareholder & Shareholder Engagement: The group is committed to maintaining open and constructive 

communication with our shareholders and local stakeholders. The Group regularly engages with 

shareholders & stakeholders.  

  

1.9 Compliance and ethics  

The Group is committed to maintaining the highest standards of legal and ethical conduct in all of its 

activities. The Group is committed to complying with all applicable laws and regulations and also expects 

its employees, officers, and directors to adhere to the highest standards of ethical conduct. Policies and 

procedures are established to promote ethical behavior and prevent violations of the law.  
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1.10 Information   

Øyfjellet Wind has provided extensive information about the business on the website 

www.oyfjelletvind.no, which is the primary information channel.  

  

1.11 Supply-chain and the Norwegian Transparency Act  

From 1 July 2022, the Act relating to enterprises' transparency and work on fundamental human rights and 

decent working conditions (Transparency Act) came into force in Norway.   

  

The purpose of the Transparency Act is to promote enterprises’ respect for fundamental human rights and 

decent working conditions, and to ensure public access to information regarding the efforts enterprises 

make in these areas. In accordance with the Transparency Act, Øyfjellet Wind AS monitor and conduct due 

diligence to identify, assess and limit actual and potential adverse impacts for fundamental rights and decent 

working conditions linked to Øyfjellet Wind’s activity and business, as well as its supply chains and 

business partners.  

 

The following key activities have been carried out as part of the process:  

• Categorising suppliers and business partners based on geographical risk, sector risk, product risk, and 

enterprise risk.  

• Providing an overall risk assessment based on the identified risk factors.  

• Evaluating other factors that may influence the risk assessment (e.g., comprehensive sustainability 

reporting, statements in accordance with the Transparency Act, or information provided by the 

businesses themselves).  

• Implementing measures: Following up with suppliers and business partners in risk groups and 

assessing the information provided by them.  

• Considering suitable further measures. 

 

The 2024 report was published in June 2025, and the 2025 report will be published by 30 June 2026 on the 

website: www.oyfjelletvind.no/baerekraft/. The work with due diligence assessments is a continuous 

process, and Øyfjellet Wind AS`s goal is continuous improvement in our own operations and in our supply 

chain.    

 

The due diligence reviews Øyfjellet Wind AS has carried out for the reporting year 1 January – 31 

December 2025 have primarily been based on a risk assessment of our own operations, the supply chain 

and the business partners. Our main focus has been on finding appropriate mitigating measures to identify 

and limit potential adverse impacts on the local reindeer herding district. We have also focused on decent 

working conditions in our supply chain, including HSEQ. Through our Code of Conduct and Code of 

Conduct for Business partners, we set a standard for how we as a company and our suppliers are expected 

to conduct ourselves when it comes to matters relating to human rights and labour practices, environmental 

commitments and business integrity and compliance. 

http://www.oyfjelletvind.no/
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2. Social Responsibility  

  

2.1 Environment   

Øyfjellet Wind strives to mitigate climate change through the production of renewable energy. We support 

the development of a low-carbon society and contribute to the transition towards a sustainable society by 

operating the wind farm on Øyfjellet. The wind turbines employ the latest technology, delivering renewable 

energy with zero CO2 emissions and minimal impact on the surrounding natural environment.   

 

Øyfjellet Wind always complies with Norwegian laws and monitors relevant environmental issues and 

regulations in order to adjust our operations and actions accordingly. Øyfjellet Wind strives to minimise 

the negative environmental impact caused by our operations.  

  

2.2 Incidents    

In 2025, no dead birds or other injured animals were registered at the wind farm.  

  

2.3 HSEQ   

Øyfjellet Wind is committed to facilitating a safe environment for our employees, contractors and visitors. 

Øyfjellet Wind follows all Norwegian laws and regulations and is concerned with safeguarding the 

physical, mental and social health of our employees and contractors.  

   

To support the company in providing the best work conditions, each employee is responsible for protecting 

themselves, their colleagues and the third parties working at our locations from any potential health 

damages. Øyfjellet Wind is also responsible for protecting the local population and other visitors of the 

wind farm.   

 

Øyfjellet Wind works systematically on Health, Safety, Environment and Quality (HSEQ) together with all 

its subcontractors. Risk assessments have been prepared, barriers have been detected and procedures have 

been prepared. Every year, HSEQ reports are obtained from subcontractors and implemented in Øyfjellet 

Wind’s own annual HSEQ report that is processed by the board. In addition, all suppliers in Norway that 

perform engineering, construction or operation of electrical installations are audited frequently by the 

authorities (The Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection– DSB) to ensure that they have a satisfactory 

HSE system. ØWAS has been audited by the authorities (DSB and NVE - The Norwegian Water Resources 

and Energy Directorate) and fulfill all regulatory requirements according to laws and regulations. 

 

2.4 Work environment and staff   

Øyfjellet Wind AS has its own employees in the positions of managing director, responsible for professional 

and operational management, CFO/administration officer as well an operations manager. Other services are 

purchased from subcontractors. No sick leave was recorded in 2025, indicating well-established and very 

favourable working conditions. The company will focus on maintaining a safe and pleasant working 
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environment in the future in the hope of keeping absences to a minimum. No serious work accidents or 

significant personal injuries have occurred or been reported during the year. The cooperation between 

employees, service providers, subcontractors and investors or its representatives is considered to be 

professional and effective.  

 

2.5 Local community and stakeholders   

It is essential for us to have a close and open dialogue with local stakeholders and everyone who is affected 

by our operations. In our operations, we strive to adapt to and accommodate the needs and interests of local 

stakeholders, such as the municipality, land owners, and the local reindeer herding district.   

 

2.6 Anti-Corruption   

Øyfjellet Wind has zero tolerance for corruption. Our employees shall not, under any circumstances, offer 

or accept money, gifts, services, or other things of value that are intended to influence a business decision. 

Øyfjellet Wind complies with Norwegian anti-corruption laws and guidelines.    

 

2.7 Equality   

We are committed to working actively, deliberately, and systematically to advance equality and prevent 

discrimination, in line with the Norwegian Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act and the equality and 

diversity policy of our owners. Our efforts to promote gender equality encompass all aspects of the 

employment relationship — including recruitment, salaries and working conditions, career advancement, 

development opportunities, workplace accommodations, and the balance between work and family life.  

 

Our Code of Conduct clearly states that we have zero tolerance for harassment and discrimination. 

 

In 2025, ØWAS adopted a new policy on diversity, equality and inclusion. The goal of this policy is to 

foster a workplace culture that values diversity, ensures quality, and promotes inclusion in the organisation. 

 

2.8 Human rights   

We respect, protect and promote all the regulations in force regarding the protection of human rights as a 

fundamental, general requirement. This applies not only to cooperation within our company, but also to the 

behaviour of our business partners. Human rights in our supply chain are assessed as part of our due 

diligence work in accordance with the Transparency Act. 

 

2.9 Labour rights   

We operate in line with the Norwegian Working Environment Act regulating the working environment, 

working hours and employment protection. In the supply chain, we expect all suppliers to reject any use of 

child labour and forced or mandatory labour, as well as modern slavery. Work practices and conditions that 
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are in breach of fundamental human rights are forbidden. Labour rights and practices in our supply chain 

are assessed as part of our due diligence work in accordance with the Transparency Act. 

 

 

3. Board of Director Report  

  

3.1 Risk factors  

The Group and its wind farm is exposed to several risk factors. Without limitation, this may include risks 

with respect to weather variations, changing tax regime, the performance of suppliers and/or contractors 

who are engaged to operate assets held by the Group, credit risk with respect to the sole off taker under the 

PPA for the Øyfjellet Wind Farm, future prices of power, origin guarantees and wind farm operations.  

 

3.1.1 Ongoing legal disputes 

Jillen-Njaarke appraisal case 

Øyfjellet Wind is involved in an appraisal case before the courts with Jillen-Njaarke reindeer grazing district 

and others (“Jillen-Njaarke”). The objective of determining the compensation amount due to the 

expropriation of necessary rights from Jillen-Njaarke for the building and operation of the Øyfjellet wind 

farm. Jillen-Njaarke has also challenged the validity of the expropriation decision and the awarded facility 

licence for the project.  

 

The District Court ruled 20 December 2024 in favor of Øyfjellet Wind AS in the question of license validity 

and awarded Jillen-Njaarke compensation of approx. MNOK 4. Jillen-Njaarke appealed the ruling to the 

Appeal Court, and oral hearing is scheduled in March 2026.  

 

Property tax dispute against Vefsn municipality 

The valuation of the wind project for property tax purposes was subject to court proceedings, which took 

place in November 2025, with a judgment issued in our favour in February 2026; the decision is not yet 

legally binding. The dispute concerns whether the valuation should be indexed to the 2019 general valuation 

level rather than assessed at 2024 values. Applying ØWAS’ valuation principles would reduce annual pay-

able property tax by approximately MNOK 2.1–2.6 during the valuation period. 
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Development agreement dispute against Vefsn Municipality 

Vefsn municipality has brought legal proceedings against ØWAS claiming approx. MNOK 8.9 (plus 

interest) pursuant to an agreement between the parties. The District court ordered ØWAS to pay the claim 

in a judgment of 23 July 2025. ØWAS has appealed the judgment and the appeal hearing is scheduled for 

14 April 2026. The amount of MNOK 8.9 has been paid and expensed in 2025. 

 

Arbitration notice from Eolus 

On 29 August 2025, Eolus has filed a request for arbitration against ØWAS concerning the financial settlement 

of the EPCM Agreement. Although out-of-court settlement discussions with the developer have progressed over 

the summer, Eolus initiated the proceedings to stop the statue of limitation but highlighted in its request that they 

remain open to finding an amicable solution. No monetary claim has been presented in the arbitration proceed-

ings to date.  

 

3.1.2 Power price uncertainty  

91.22% of the electricity generated by the wind farm is sold to a local off-taker through a power purchase agree-

ment at a fixed price until 2036. However, as the risk management strategy foresees to only hedge 70% of the 

total volume, the Group has entered into a swap agreement to reduce the hedged amount by 21.22%. Short-term 

fluctuations in the electricity spot market can therefore indirectly impact 30% of the generated volume.  

 

3.1.3 Currency fluctuations  

There can be a difference in currency regarding revenues, loans, procurement and construction invoices. 

The main currency exposure relates to fluctuations between NOK, and EUR. Based on the currency hedging 

policy, the Group mitigates this risk by strictly controlling and monitoring currency exposure, as well as 

balancing revenues and costs in the same currency.   

  

3.1.4 Financing and interest rates  

The construction of large energy projects is capital intensive. Corporate funding and guarantee lines make 

interest payments a significant expense and an important factor in the cost of energy projects. The Group 

has secured the long-term financing through the issuance of bonds, notes and receiving shareholder loans. 

There are no significant fluctuations expected as the interest rate for bonds, notes and the shareholder loans 

are fixed. The utilised bonds include options which allow for a repayment of previously drawn down 

amounts including compensation for the net present value of underlying hedges. The Group currently does 

not intend to exercise such options. Management has initieated and is actively progressing a structured 

refinancing process in respect of the bond loan maturing in September 2026. 

 

3.1.5 Environment   

Revenues of the Group will depend on wind resources. The effects of climate change might affect the wind 

conditions at the wind farm location.  
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3.1.6 Social   

Wind farm operations could affect local communities. Failure to maintain a good relationship and 

constructive dialogue with local stakeholders could result in impaired operations or additional costs during 

the lifetime of the project.  

  

3.1.7 Delay and construction costs overrun   

The wind farm is fully operational, and the construction contracts are declared completed.  

 

A retention amount of approximately EUR 530,000 has been withheld in relation to the snag list. 

Completion of all snag list items is a prerequisite for the wind turbine supplier to issue the Final Acceptance 

Certificate, which will trigger the release of the final milestone payment (Milestone 8) under the Turbine 

Supply Agreement (TSA), amounting to approximately EUR 6.4 million. 

 

There is no longer any material risk of construction cost overruns.  

  

3.1.8 Risk management   

The group has implemented a comprehensive risk management framework that is designed to identify, 

assess, and mitigate potential risks across all aspects of operations. The risk management framework 

includes several key elements, such as:  

  

Risk identification:   

Øyfjellet Wind regularly review its operations to identify potential risks, both internal and external, 

that could impact the business. This process involves engaging with various stakeholders, third party 

advisors, suppliers, and industry experts, to gather insights and identify emerging risks.  

  

Risk assessment:   

Aquila Capital, as a regulated Fund Manager, utilised a comprehensive assessment methodology to 

evaluate the potential impact and likelihood of identified risks.   

  

Risk mitigation:   

The group takes proactive measures to mitigate identified risks, such as implementing controls, 

developing contingency plans. These measures are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure they 

remain effective and relevant.  

  

Risk monitoring and reporting:   

The group continuously monitors its operations and performance to identify any changes in our risk 

profile. Øyfjellet Wind also provides regular updates to our stakeholders on risk management 

activities and any significant risks or incidents that have occurred. 
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3.2 Operations    

The total production in 2025 was recorded at 1,1 TWh, which is below the expected P50 budget of 1,3 TWh 

annually. According to the wind turbine supplier wind report (covering the wind year from 1 November to 

31 October), the practical possible production was 1,2 TWh, adjusted for electrical losses.  

 

The main factors impairing performance in 2025 were repair works on gearboxes, and issues with the Anti 

Icing System (AIS). Following the completion of the AIS retrofit on all turbines in 2025, initial performance 

indicators show a significant improvement. The system’s effectiveness under extreme winter conditions 

will be further assessed over the upcoming winter months in 2026. 

 

As the production in 2025 was negatively affected by the aforementioned events, the company has received 

a substantial compensation according to the availability warranty in the O&M agreement with the Turbine 

supplier. The entity has agreed on a compensation of EUR 3.8 million connected to the third-year 

production. The compensation was already recognised in the financial statements as of year-end 2025. 

 

3.3 Going concern  

In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, we confirm that the financial statements have been prepared 

under the assumption of going concern and considering the Group’s long-term strategic forecasts. The 

Group has a liquidity position of EUR 35.8 million as of December 2025. The bond loan matures in 

September 2026 and the Group has formally commenced a structured refinancing process, which is 

progressing in line with its financing strategy. Management is confindent that the refincing will be 

completed in due time prior to the loan’s maturity, and the financial statements have been prepared on this 

basis.  

 

3.4 Insurance   

The Group has a Directors & Officers liability insurance, which was provided via Aquila Capital that covers 

Directors and executive management. Other procured insurances cover liability and business interruption 

and machine.  

  

3.5 Financial review  

For the year 2025, the consolidated revenue was EUR 31.3 million, this is a decrease of 6% compared to 2024. 

Most revenues are generated by the sale of electricity through fixed price power purchase agreements with local 

offtakes. The decrease in revenue compared to the previous year is primarily explained by the changes in the 

volume of electricity produced and the average price obtained. Specifically, lower production volumes have 

contributed to the overall decrease in revenue year-on-year. Total operating income was EUR 34.8 million, 

compared to EUR 32.8 million in 2024. The increase is mainly due to a larger positive change in the fair value 

of the electricity swap contract, as well as the compensation received from the Turbine Supplier. 
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Operating expenses of EUR 16.4 million consist of Operations and Maintenance fees, advisor expenses, 

salary and personnel expenses as well as other operating expenses. The costs are slightly down or stable 

compared to previous years, as most of the activity is now recurring, however expected to be reduced 

somewhat during 2026. 

 

Financial income amounted to EUR 8.8 million in 2025 compared to 6.0 million in 2024. The increase is 

primarily attributable to higher interest income as well as increased gains from derivatives.    

  

Financial expenses of EUR 16.8 million mainly consist of interest on existing bonds as well as shareholder 

loan interest to group companies. In 2024, financial expenses amounted to EUR 26.0 million. The decrease 

is primarily connected to reduced interest cost related to the shareholder loan, following the conversion of 

shareholder loans to equity. 

  

Total comprehensive income was negative EUR 13.9 million, compared to negative EUR 32.6 million in 

2024. The main driver for the improvement is higher operating income, lower financial expenses and a 

more beneficial corporate tax expense in 2025. 

 

Income tax represents a significant cost. The income tax expense decreased from EUR 7.1 million to EUR 

3.7 million, where the main driver of the change was connected to the foreign exchange impact on both 

recognised taxable results, and also deferred tax postions.    

 

3.6 Financial position   

Total assets amounted to EUR 555.6 million (EUR 566.3 million at the end of 2024), and total equity 

amounted to EUR 81.2 million (2024: EUR 112.1 million). The decrease in equity is mainly caused by the 

net operations for the group of negative EUR 13.9 million as well as dividend payment of EUR 17 million. 

  

Current assets amounted to EUR 52.7 million (2024: EUR 48.8 million). Trade and other receivables 

remained relatively stable at EUR 9.8 million (2024: EUR 9.5 million).   

  

Cash and cash equivalents increased to EUR 35.8 million (2024: EUR 24.6 million), mainly due to proceeds 

from the settlement of the arbitration case.  

 

3.7 Cashflow and cash and equivalents  

Cash flow from operating activities was EUR 6.8 million compared to EUR 12.1 million in 2024. This 

decrease was mainly driven by increased interest paid and negative fair value adjustments partly offset by 

improved operating profit, proceeds from disputes, and positive changes in working capital.   
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Cash flow from investing activities was positive EUR 32 million compared to negative EUR 10.7 million 

in the previous year. The increase is due to proceeds from disputes amounting to EUR 33.6 million. 

  

Cash flow from financing activities was negative EUR 27.5 million compared to negative EUR 5.5 million 

in previous year. The decrease is mainly due to increased repayment of notes, as well as dividend payments 

of EUR 17 million. At the end of the financial year, cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 35.8 

million (2024: 24.6 million).  

 

 

3.8 Outlook  

Øyfjellet Wind AS is a wind farm operating company that is committed to delivering reliable electricity to 

its customers. Despite the challenges faced by the industry in the past years, the company is well positioned 

in a dynamic market environment. With the successful repair of broken gearboxes, generator, transformer 

completion of snag-list items, and rectification of the Anti Icing System, the company is confident that 

electricity production will be further improved in the coming years.   

 

Following long lasting negotiations, the arbitration case against the wind turibine supplier has been 

successfully concluded in 2025. As part of ending the arbitration case, a settlement agreement with the 

turbine supplier was signed in November 2025 introducing additional protections against future gearbox 

failures. The agreement enhances downside protection and mitigates operational risk without increasing 

O&M costs in the event of a gearbox failure. 

  

The financial situation of the group will continue to be affected by macroeconomic factors, such as prices 

for electricity and certificates, wind conditions and the tax regime in Norway. While power prices remain 

volatile, the project company continues to benefit from a long-term offtake agreement which substantially 

reduces market price exposure and secures revenues.  

 

With the implementation of the Melkøya electrification, the company expects increased electricity 

consumption in NO04, which in isolation would lead to higher power prices over time. The company bases 

its assessments on external price forecasts. 

 

Looking ahead to 2026 and beyond, electricity prices in the Norwegian price areas are expected to gradually 

recover from the exceptionally low levels observed throughout 2025, supported by a normalization of 

hydrological conditions and a more balanced supply–demand dynamic. While price volatility is expected 

to persist, the short and medium-term outlook indicates a return toward more sustainable price levels. 
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Several key trends will continue to shape the market, such as the ongoing shift towards renewable energy 

sources, further developments in energy storage technologies, intended decarbonisation around the world 

and digitalisation.   

 

The management will continue its focus on operational excellence and cost optimisation. 

 

Oslo, 26 February 2026  

 

 

 

Executive Board  
- 

 

 

Board of Directors  

 

 

  

Christian Heidfeld Daniel Metzger 

 Chair 
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4. Responsibility Statement   

 

Today, the Board of Directors reviewed and approved the Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS consolidated 

annual report as of December 2025.  

 

To the best of our knowledge, we confirm that:   

• The Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS consolidated annual report as of December 2025 have been 

prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (EU), and additional 

Norwegian disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act, and that  

• The report has been prepared in accordance with applicable financial reporting standards, and that  

• The information presented in the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the Group’s assets, 

liabilities, financial position and results for the period viewed, and that  

• The report gives a true and fair view of the development, performance, financial position, principle 

risks and uncertainties of the Group.  

  

Oslo, 26 February 2026  

 

 

Executive Board  
- 

 

 

Board of Directors  

 

 

 

 

  

Christian Heidfeld Daniel Metzger      

 Chair 
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Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

 

  

2025 2024

TEUR Note

Revenue 3 31 319              33 196           

Net effect of electricity swap contract 3 (457)                  (3 827)            

Other income 3 3 957                3 480             

Operating income 34 819                       32 849                    

Other operating expenses 4,5,6 (16 435)                      (16 698)                   

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 7,8,9 (20 496)                      (21 664)                   

Operating profit/(loss) (2 112)                        (5 513)                     

Financial income 10 8 809                         5 988                      

Financial expenses 11 (16 836)                      (25 970)                   

Profit/(loss) before tax (10 138)                      (25 495)                   

Corporate tax expense 12 1 931                         1 757                      

Resource Rent tax expense 12 (5 653)                        (8 843)                     

Total tax expense (3 722)                        (7 086)                     

Other comprehensive income -                             -                          

-                             -                          

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement -                             -                          

Total comprehensive income for 

the financial year (13 861)                      (32 582)                   

(13 861)                      (32 582)                   

Items that will subsequently be reclassed over the 

income statement

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity 

holders of the parent
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Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Financial position   

  

 

 

  

Assets

31 December 2025 31 December 2024

TEUR Note

Intangible assets 7 24 761                       25 752                    

Property, plant and equipment 8 420 405                     444 213                  

Right-of-use-assets 9 8 069                         8 115                      

Non-current prepayments 13 4 510                         4 194                      

Deferred tax assets 12 15 992                       14 061                    

Non-current financial assets 14 29 173                       21 129                    

Total non-current assets 502 911                     517 465                  

Trade receivables 15 9 830                         9 528                      

Prepayments 13 730                            9 332                      

Other current receivables 716                            2 021                      

Prepaid tax 12 5 581                         3 354                      

Cash and cash equivalents 16 35 820                       24 560                    

Total current assets 52 677                       48 796                    

Total assets 555 588                     566 261                  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial position  

  

  

 

Oslo, 26 February 2026  

 

Executive Board  
- 

 
 

Board of Directors  

 

     

Christian Heidfeld    Daniel Metzger 

Chair 

Equity and liabilities

31 December 2025 31 December 2024

TEUR Note

Share capital 17 3 213                         2 958                      

Capital increased, not registered -                             163 295                  

Share premium reserve 173 562                     27 521                    

Retained earnings (95 572)                      (81 711)                   

Total equity 81 203                       112 064                  

Deferred tax liabilities 12 24 557                       18 904                    

Loans and borrowings 14 297 340                     387 259                  

Lease liabilities 9,14 7 288                         7 276                      

Provisions 18 33 619                       5 619                      

Total non-current liabilities 362 803                     419 058                  

Trade and other payables 14 12 135                       5 700                      

Short term loans and borrowings 14 97 445                       26 656                    

Short-term lease liabilities 9,14 439                            427                         

Other current liabilities 1 563                         2 356                      

Total current liabilities 111 582                     35 139                    

Total equity and liabilities 555 588                     566 261                  

yegenes
Stamp
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity   

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

The debt conversion of the shareholder loans was carried out on 19.12.2024 and registration date was 

04.02.2025 

 

Share 

Capital

Share 

premium

Retained      

earnings

Capital 

increased, not 

registered

Total 

equity

TEUR

Equity at 1 January 2025 2 958               27 521                       (81 711)                   163 295             112 064                   

Registration of capital 255                  163 040                     -                          (163 295)           -                           

Dividend (17 000)                      -                          -                    (17 000)                    

Total comprehensive income for the 

period -                   -                             (13 861)                   -                    (13 861)                    

Balance at 31 December 2025 3 213               173 562                     (95 571)                   -                    81 203                     

Share 

Capital

Share 

premium

Retained      

earnings

Capital 

increased, not 

registered

Total 

equity

TEUR

Equity at 1 January 2024 2 958               27 521                       (49 127)                   -                    (18 648)                    

Debt conversion -                   -                             -                          163 295             163 295                   

Total comprehensive income for the 

period -                   -                             (32 582)                   -                    (32 582)                    

Balance at 31 December 2024 2 958               27 521                       (81 711)                   163 295             112 064                   
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Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow  
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1. General accounting policies  

Basis of preparation 

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS ® Accounting 

Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Norwegian disclosure requirements in the Norwegian 

Accounting Act.  

 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS is a financing entity with the sole purpose to own shares in Øyfjellet Wind 

AS. Øyfjellet Wind AS is a wholly owned subsidiary established to construct and operate the Øyfjellet 

Wind Farm. Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS was incorporated in June 2021, and a reorganisation of the 

Group structure was decided in September 2021. Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS is the Groups ultimate parent 

and has business adress at Tveråsvegen 370, 8658 Mosjøen. 

 

The financial statements are presented in Euros (EUR). All amounts have been rounded to the nearest EUR 

thousand, unless otherwise indicated.  

 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with the historical 

cost convention, except where IFRS explicitly requires use of other values.  

 

For the purpose of clarity, the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements are prepared 

using the concepts of materiality and relevance. This means that line items not considered material in terms 

of quantitative and qualitative measures or relevant to financial statement users are aggregated and 

presented together with other items in the financial statements. Similarly, information not considered 

material is not presented in the notes. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of Øyfjellet Wind Investment 

AS (the Parent Company) and subsidiaries which are entities controlled by Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS. 

The Group controls an entity when it directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting rights or may 

otherwise exercise a controlling influence. 

 

Principles of consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the basis of the financial statements of the Parent 

Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS  

 

23 

Notes  

1. General accounting policies (continued) 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by combining items of a uniform nature and 

subsequently eliminating intercompany transactions, internal shareholdings and balances and unrealised 

intercompany gains or losses. The financial statements used for consolidation are prepared in accordance 

with the Group’s accounting policies.  

The line items of subsidiaries are recognised 100% in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Investments 

in subsidiaries are offset by the interest’s share of subsidiaries. 

 

Changes in accounting policies  

The Group has not implemented any new accounting standards or otherwise made any significant changes 

to accounting policies during 2025.  

The following updates were implemented:  

• Amendments to IAS21 Lack of Exchangeability 

 

The implementations of IAS 21did not have any impact on the financial statements. 

 

Issued, not yet effective IFRS standards and amendments not yet implemented  

The following amendments are effective for the annual report period beginning 1 January 2026 

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9, 

Financial Instruments and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures) and Nature-dependent Electricity 

Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7). These items are not expected to impact the financial 

statement.    

 

The following standards are effective for the annual reporting period beginning 1 January 2027 

IFRS 18 is assessed to have a significant impact on the financial statements. The other current updates and 

changes to the issued standards and amendments not yet implemented, have been assessed to currently not 

significantly impact the financial statement.  

 

IFRS 18 presentation and disclosure in financial statements  

IASB issued IFRS 18 in April 2024, which replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 

introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified 

totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within one of the five 

categories operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued.  

 

The Group has made an early analysis of the effects, and there will be several reclassifications from current 

operating result and financing result to the new categories.  

• Parts of foreign currency gains and losses will be reclassified from financing result to operating and 

investing.  

• Interest income from banks will be reclassified from financing to investing.  
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1. General accounting policies (continued) 

The standard is effective from reporting periods on or after 1 January 2027. IFRS 18 will not apply 

retrospectively but will apply to 2026 comparables for transition purposes.  

 

Consolidated statement of Cash flow  

The consolidated statement of cash flow is presented using the indirect method and shows cash flows from 

operating, investing and financing activities for the year as well as the Group’s cash and cash equivalents 

at the beginning and end of the financial year. 

 

Foreign currency translation 

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are considered transactions in 

foreign currency. 

 

On initial recognition, transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rates at the transaction date. Foreign exchange rate adjustments arising between 

the transaction date and at the date of payment are recognised in profit or loss as financial income or 

financial expenses.  

 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the 

reporting date. The difference between the exchange rates at the reporting date and at the date of transaction 

or the exchange rate in the latest financial statements is recognised in profit or loss as financial income or 

financial expenses. 

 

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make a number of accounting 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, as 

well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management also exercises judgement in applying 

the Group’s accounting policies. The estimates, judgements and assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors considered prudent by management under the circumstances, but are inherently 

subject to uncertainty and volatility. 

 

Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unforeseen events or circumstances may occur, for 

which reason actual results may differ from the estimates and judgements made. 

 

Management considers the following accounting judgements and estimates to be significant in the 

preparation of the financial statements: 
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (contin-

ued) 

 
2.1 Critical accounting judgements 

Critical accounting judgements are those that management has made in the process of applying the Group’s 

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements. 

 

Evaluation of power purchase agreement 

The Group has entered into a power purchase agreement (PPA) with Alcoa Norway to secure cash flows 

from the wind farm. This agreement is guaranteed by the Norwegian state through GIEK (”Garantiinstituttet 

for Eksportkreditt”). Management has analysed the terms of the PPA and concluded that it does not fall 

within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, as the underlying asset is predetermined, and the customer neither 

operates nor designed the asset. However, due to the physical delivery to a balancing party, the PPA is 

considered to be within the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This judgement is 

critical as it determines the accounting treatment and classification of the agreement. 

 

Settlement of Arbitration Case against the wind turbine supplier 

In January 2025, the Group received a final ruling from an arbitration court regarding a long dispute with 

the wind turbine supplier concerning the wind farm's final delivery. Management made a critical judgement 

to recognise the settlement in 2025, based on IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets, as the outcome became virtually certain at that time.  

 

The judgement also involved classifying the settlement amounts. It was determined that the settlement 

should primarily be treated as a reduction in the cost of Property, Plant and Equipment rather than revenue, 

as there was no service/performance obligation. This accounting treatment reflects the nature of the 

settlement as compensation for costs incurred and assets not delivered as originally agreed.  

 

The net impact of the settlement is a reduction of approximately EUR 40 million in PPE, a reduction of 

EUR 9 million in other financial assets, and an interest income of approximately EUR 1.9 million. 

 
Assessment of embedded derivatives and valuation of put option 

In 2021, the Group issued EUR 235 million bonds primarily to US investors. The bond contract includes 

an embedded prepayment option. Management has made a critical judgement regarding the separation of 

this embedded derivative from the host bond contract.  

 

The prepayment option stipulates that if the Group chooses to prepay a portion or the full notional of the 

loan, it must compensate the investor(s) for the discounted remaining payments, including a potential net 

gain/loss from designated hedging instruments (e.g., FX swaps) that the investors may have in place. This 

means the compensation is designed to cover any loss the investor might incur on 
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (contin-

ued) 

their hedging instruments if the bond is prepaid, effectively making them whole. It is not within the Group’s 

business plan to exercise this prepayment option. 

 

Management concluded that the economic characteristics and risks of the prepayment option are not closely 

related to the host bond in reference to IFRS 9 Financial instruments, primarily due to the specific 

compensation mechanism involving potential net gain/loss from designated hedging instruments (e.g., FX 

swaps) held by the investors. Therefore, the embedded derivative has been separated and is measured at 

fair value through profit or loss. 

 

The fair value model for the embedded derivative considers the likelihood of the option being exercised 

multiplied by the payoff (prepayment of loan plus/minus net settlement of one or more swaps in dollars). 

Key inputs to the fair value model include the hedge ratio of the investors (0%, 50%, 75%, 100%), foreign 

currency rate changes by 5% up and down, and the rating of the Group.  

 

The embedded derivative asset of EUR 14.6 million recognised in the statement of financial position 

primarily reflects the value of this prepayment option to the Group, considering the potential for interest 

rate differentials and FX movements impacting the investor's position. 

 

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets 

The Group makes a critical judgement regarding the recognition of deferred tax assets (DTA), particularly 

those arising from unused tax losses and temporary differences.  

 

According to IAS 12 Income Taxes, a deferred tax asset shall be recognised only to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. 

Given ØWAS's history of recent losses, management's judgement to recognise the DTA requires 

convincing evidence of sufficient future taxable profits. 

 

Management has assessed the probability of future taxable profits based on several factors: The company 

is expected to return to profitability from 2028 onwards, with tax losses projected to be fully utilised within 

approximately 15 years. This outlook is supported by significantly lower interest expenses following a debt 

conversion in 2024, stable operating expenses, and fixed revenues from long-term contracts. With no major 

investments planned and a stronger financial position, ØWAS is now in a steady state. 

 

Based on this evidence, management judges it probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be 

available to utilise the deferred tax assets. This critical judgement supports the continued recognition of the 

deferred tax asset of EUR 15.9 million as of 31 December 2025. 
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (contin-

ued) 

 

2.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are those areas where management has made assumptions about the 

future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a 

significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Management performs an annual assessment of whether there are any indicators of impairment for its non-

financial assets, specifically the investment in the wind farm. Impairment exists when the carrying value of 

an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 

value in use. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (DCF) model, focusing on 

free cash flow to equity. The cash flows are derived from the budget until the end of the license period. The 

recoverable amount is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 

• Expected future cash-inflows which depends on pricing per MWh and the production volume 

• Resource rent tax 

• Discount rate 

 

Based on this assessment, management concluded that the value in use was higher than the carrying value 

of the assets, and therefore no impairment was required for 2025.  

 

Value in Use  

Estimated cash flows are based on next year’s budgets and forecasted earnings going forward. As the group 

has fixed price contract for 91% of the production, this is a main factor into the model. In addition, a long-

term contract for the maintenance of the main components of the wind farm have been made, which in turn 

is used in the calculations for expected operating expenses including additional expenses based on history 

and expectations from management. Estimated future cash flows are based on expected production with 

seasonality including downtime. Critical assumptions in the assessment are related to WACC, expected 

production and pricing for the variable portion. In addition, the new legislation of Resource rent tax has 

been included and updated with the expected impact based on the current information and guidance.  
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (contin-

ued) 

 

Discounting Rate  

The discounting rate is based on a weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for the Group. The cost of 

equity is derived from risk free rate German Svensson-Method (risk-free interest rate), market risk premium 

and an additional idiosyncratic risk premium. The debt element of the discounting rate is based on the risk-

free interest rate, plus a premium equivalent to the difference between risk-free interest rate and market 

rates. The discount rate used for 2025 is 4,80%. The discount rate used for 2024 was 5,12%. 

 

Fair value of long-term power swap agreement 

The Group has entered into a financial power swap agreement. This agreement is part of a strategy to adjust its 

effective hedge position, whereby the Group purchases up to 21.22% of annual production at spot prices, reduc-

ing the effective hedge position. This is a financial swap agreement, meaning there is no physical delivery of 

power under the swap itself; instead, cash flows are exchanged based on the difference between a fixed price 

and a floating (spot) price. 

 

The fair value of this financial swap agreement is subject to estimation uncertainty. The key assumptions uti-

lised in measuring its fair value were: 

 

• Replacement Price for the PPA: 30,97 EUR/MWh (31 December 2024: 29,27 EUR/MWh 

• PPA volume of 274,52 GWh/a 

• Discount rate of 5,11% 

  

Management has performed a sensitivity analysis, which indicates that a EUR 1/MWh increase (decrease) in the 

PPA price would result in a corresponding increase (decrease) in the PPA fair value by TEUR 2,305. 

 

Further information can be found in Note 13. 

 

Provision for decommissioning 

The Group has recognised a provision for decommissioning obligations associated with the wind turbines erected 

on leased land. In determining the best estimate of the provision, assumptions and estimates are made in relation 

to discount rates, the expected cost to dismantle and remove the wind farm from the site and the expected timing 

of those costs.  

 

The estimated decommissioning provision was adjusted as of the end of the 2025 reporting period following the 

receipt of additional information. The revised estimate is based on updated underlying assumptions and practical 

experience gained from initial dismantling activities of one of the wind turbines. Additional assumptions used 

for the calculation were long-term inflation rate of 2%, a risk-free interest rate and the useful life of the under-

lying assets. The carrying amount of the provision as at 31 December 2025 was TEUR 30,257. 
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3. Revenue  

Segment information 

For management purposes and based on internal reporting information, the Group is organised in only one 

operating segment. The costs related to the main nature of the business are not attributable to any specific 

revenue stream or customer type and are therefore borne centrally. The results of the single reporting 

segment are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Set out below is the 

disaggregation of the Group’s revenue: 

 

 
 

In 2025, the Company had one customer that bought all the power that the Company produced TEUR 

30,163 (2024: One customer with accumulated revenue of TEUR 30,518). 

 

The remaining performance obligation from the sale of power expected to be recognised in the future and 

depends on the annual production. The performance obligation is connected to delivering most of the 

produced volume, however with no minimum delivery. 

 

Accounting policies 

The Group recognises revenue from sale of power and renewable energy certificates. Revenue is measured 

based on the consideration specified in the power purchase agreement and is a fixed price contract with 

variable elements included: A fixed price with variable volume, variable price at spot rate as well as an 

price adjustment feature based on total annual production. The agreement does not include a minimum 

required volume. The revenue excludes VAT and taxes collected on behalf of third parties. 

 

Revenue from sale of power produced by the wind farm is recognised when control of the power is 

transferred to the customer, that being when the power is delivered. The sale of power is considered to 

comprise of a series of identical goods that are transferred to the customer over time. The Group recognises 

the related revenue in accordance with the practical expedient in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers by the amount it has a right to invoice. The consideration for the power is due when the actual  

power is delivered to the customer. The agreement includes variable consideration, which is estimated at 

the beginning of the reporting period and adjusted at the end of the reporting period when the total annual 

production is known. 

  

2025 2024

TEUR

Revenue

Fixed price 30 163                   30 518                   

Variable price 620                        1 868                     

Certificates 526                        576                        

Other 10                          233                        

Total revenue 31 319                   33 196                   
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3. Revenue (continued) 

Revenue from sale of renewable energy certificates originating from the Group’s own wind farm is 

recognised at a point in time when the certificate is transferred to the customer. These revenues can fluctuate 

due to changes in market prices and volumes sold. Unsold certificates are recognised as zero, as the cost 

connected to this is uncertain.  

 

As of year-end 2025, the Group held 264,627 unsold Guarantees of Origin (GoOs), valued at approximately 

€0.17–0.20 per MWh. In addition, the Group held 2,334,232 elcertificates, with a fair value of zero. 

 

Realised and unrealised cash flows from the power swap derivative are  presented under Other Income and 

these items are measured in accordance with IFRS 9. 

 

4. Other operating expenses 

 
 

5. Salaries and number of full-time equivalents 

 

Staff costs are further detailed in the table below: 

 

 
 

Remuneration to the general manager was TEUR in 2025. Expensed pension for the general manager was 

TEUR 11.  

 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Raw materials and consumables 2 640                     2 987                     

Staff costs 487                        330                        

General operating expenses 11 484                   11 587                   

Audit & accounting services 721                        691                        

GIEK guarantee 1 103                     1 103                     

Total other operating expenses 16 434                   16 698                   

TEUR 2025 2024

Salaries 383                        255                        

Other benefits 11                          5                            

Pensions 33                          26                          

Other social security costs 60                          45                          

Total 487                        330                        

Average numbers of employees during the year 3 3                            
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5. Salaries and number of full-time equivalents (continued) 

 
Pension liabilities 

 

The company is liable to maintain an occupational pension scheme under the Mandatory Occupational 

Pension Act. The company’s pension schemes satisfy the requirements of this Act. 

 

 

6. Fees paid to auditors appointed at the annual general meeting 

 

 
 

7. Intangible assets 

 
 

 

 

Accounting policies 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite. 

TEUR 2025 2024

Statutory audit 239 300                     

Other assurance services 10 19                       

Total 249 319                     

TEUR Concessions

2025

Cost at 1 January 29 713           

Additions -                 

Cost at 31 December 29 713           

Amortisation and impairment losses at 1 Januar (3 961)            

Amortisation during the year (991)               

Amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December (4 952)            

Carrying amount at 31 December 24 761           

TEUR Concessions

2024

Cost at 1 January 29 713           

Additions -

Cost at 31 December 29 713           

Amortisation and impairment losses at 1 Januar (2 970)            

Amortisation during the year (991)               

Amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December (3 961)            

Carrying amount at 31 December 25 752           
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7. Intangible assets (continued) 

Intangible assets with finite lives are recognised at cost and subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful economic lives. Amortisation commences from the date the asset is available 

for use. 

 

The useful lives and amortisation methods for intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed at least at the 

end of each reporting period. The Group's concession, which is a material intangible asset, is amortised 

over its estimated useful life, which corresponds to the concession period. As of 31 December 2023, the 

concessions period was extended from 25 to 30 years. Accordingly, from 1 January 2024, the depreciation 

period has been adjusted accordingly. As at 31 December 2025, the concession has a remaining amortisation 

until expected close in 2052. 

 

8. Property, plant and equipment 
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

 

 

 

Øyfjellet Wind AS has 72 wind turbines under development located in the Vefsn municipality. All 72 wind 

turbines (towers and wind turbines) were finished and have been put in operation as per 31 December 2022. 

After the mechanical milestone was reached, management concluded that the construction phase was 

finalised after all turbines were installed. Depreciation started according to Group accounting policies. The 

amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2025 was TEUR 0 (2024: TEUR 

0). 

In addition the company finalised an operational building in early 2025 and is depreciated on remaining 

life of concession.   

 

No impairment was recognised in 2025 based on management's impairment assessment. 

 

Adjustment of cost price includes settlement of arbitrage. In January 2025, the Group received a final ruling 

from an arbitration court regarding a long dispute with the wind turbine supplier concerning the wind farm's 

final delivery. It was determined that the settlement should primarily be treated as a reduction in the cost 

of Property, Plant and Equipment rather than revenue, as there was no service/performance obligation. 

The net impact to PPE of the settlement is a reduction in cost price of approximately EUR 38 million. 

In connection to this a provision for future claim has been made of EUR 2.9 millon, see note 18 for further 

information. 

 

  

TEUR Plant

Machinery 

& equipment

Construction 

in progress Total

2024

Cost at 1 January 493 084     2 365            816               496 265   

Additions 2 277         1 105            4 025            7 407       

Disposals (157)              (543)              (700)         

Addition legal costs 3 974         - 3 974       

Transfer 3 877         (3 877)           -           

Cost at 31 December 503 212     3 313            422               506 947   

-           

Depreciation at 1 January (41 850)      (501)                - (42 351)    

Depreciation during the period (19 750)      (632)                - (20 382)    

Depreciation at 31 December (61 599)      (1 134)             - (62 733)    

Carrying amount at 31 December 441 612     2 180            422               444 214   
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Accounting policies 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost 

comprises the acquisition price and other directly attributable costs until the date on which the wind turbines 

were installed and started being depreciated. No significant components were identified by management, 

so no assets are broken down into components. 

 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part 

of the cost of the asset. 

 

The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the 

cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. Refer to significant accounting 

judgements, estimates and assumptions (note 2) for further information about the recognised 

decommissioning provision. 

 

The Group has chosen to capitalise decommissioning costs as part of the cost of its property, plant and 

equipment. Decommissioning costs are depreciated over the useful life of the assets. 

 

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis from the time of acquisition, or when the asset is available 

for use, over the expected useful life. The expected useful lives are assessed individually for every class of 

assets. A reassessment is made once a year to ascertain that the depreciation basis reflects the expected 

useful lives and future residual values of the assets. The residual value at the end of the useful life is set to 

0. 

 

The expected useful lives are as follows:  

Machinery & Equipment                   5 years 

Plant (Windfarm) & buildings          30 years 

 

The windfarm is depreciated over the period of the concession, which is 30 years. Concessions period has 

been set to 30 years as per 31.12.23. Accordingly, the consession will be amortised over the remaining 

period ending 2052. 
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9. Leases 

 

Carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period: 

 

 

The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss: 

 

 

 

The group had a total cash outflow for leases of TEUR 448 (2024: TEUR 432). 

 

The lease payment of the wind farm has a variable amount of 2,75 % of gross revenue of the production 

from the concession area. In 2024 Øyfjellet undertook a new lease agreement for a lease on a piece of land 

where their administration building is placed. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis 

over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the asset which is from 2024 30 years. The lease 

payment is a yearly fee of 315.000 NOK in 2025 and is adjusted for inflation each year. 

 

Accounting policies 

The Group leases the land where the wind farm is built on. 

 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the useful 

life of the asset. As of 31 December 2023, the concessions period was extended from 25 to 30 

years. Accordingly, the company has assessed that the minimum lease term is extended to the same period 

as the concession, ending in 2052. 

2025 2024

TEUR Land Land

At 1 January 7 703                     7 736                     

Additions -                         339                        

Accrual of interest 250                        250                        

Payments (448)                       (432)                       

FX gain / loss (32)                         (388)                       

Adjustments 253                        197                        

At Reporting date 7 727                     7 703                     

Non-current 7 288                     7 276                     

Current 439                        427                        

TEUR 2025 2024

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 299                        290                        

Interest expense on lease liabilities 250                        250                        

Variable lease payments (included in 

other operating expenses) 480                        819                        

Total amount recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss 1 030                     1 359                     
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9. Leases (continued) 

 

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with periods covered by options 

to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain that the options will be exercised, and periods covered by 

options to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain that the options will not be exercised. The lease 

obligation, which is recognised in “Lease liabilities”, is measured at the present value of the remaining 

lease payments, discounted by the Group’s incremental loan interest rate as the implicit interest rate is not 

stated in the lease agreement. 

 

Subsequent adjustments of the lease obligation are recognised as a correction to the right-of-use asset. 

However, if the right-of-use asset has a value of EUR 0, a negative reassessment of the right-of-use asset 

is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

The lease contracts include variable lease payments based on the gross turnover of the production. Lease 

payments have been calculated with the minimum lease which was set at NOK 10,000/year per contract 

until concession has been granted and NOK 10,000 per MW installed after commissioning of the wind  

will be accounted directly through profit or loss. Short leases with a maximum lease term of 12 months and 

leases where the underlying asset has a low value are not recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position. 

 

10. Financial income 

 

 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Interest income 2 681         1 362         

Financial income 0                248            

Foreign exchange gains 1 495         1 378         

Change in fair value of deposits (note 14) 70              -            

Change in fair value of embedded derivatives and 

interest rate derivatives (note 14) 4 563         3 000         

Total 8 809         5 988         
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11. Financial expenses 

 

 
 

 

12. Tax for the year 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

 

Prepaid taxes related to the production of electricity represent payments made in advance to tax authorities 

and are recognised as current tax assets in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. These prepaid amounts 

are expected to be recoverable against future tax liabilities arising from taxable profits generated by the 

electricity production activities. 

   

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Interest on loans and borrowings 14 162           23 748       

Other interest expenses 212                259            

Foreign exchange losses 1 800             951            

Interest on lease liability (note 9) 250                249            

Unwinding of discount rate on provisions (note 18) 219             219         

Change in fair value of deposits (note 14) -              543         

Change in fair value of embedded derivatives and 

interest rate derivatives (note 14) 194             -         

Total 16 836           25 970       

TEUR 2025 2024

Payable tax in the balance:

Prepaid tax - production fee 4 497                     2 271                   

Prepaid corporate tax 1 083                     1 083                   

Total prepaid tax in the balance 5 581                     3 354                   
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12. Tax for the year (continued) 

Corporate tax  

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Norwegian tax rate:  

  

 

As the functional currency is in Euro, and the tax bases are in NOK, the changes in the tax bases during the 

year, as measured in Euro, due to changes in the foreign exchange rate represents an increase or decrease 

in the effective tax rate. It is not a temporary difference in itself, as there is no guarantee that the foreign 

exchange rate will reverse in the future .  

The Group has Norwegian tax loss carryforwards in the total amount of TNOK 713,406 and TNOK 

604,887 as of year-end 2025 and 2024, respectively (2025: TEUR 60,239 2024: TEUR 51,283) that are 

available for offsetting against future taxable profits. The tax loss carryforwards do not have any 

expiration date. A deferred tax asset in the amount of TEUR 12,798 (2024: TEUR 14,061) has been 

recognised in the financial statements related to the tax loss carryforwards as the Group expects to be 

profitable from 2027 onwards with the ability to utilise the tax losses. 

 

 

  
 

 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Tax calculated as 22% of profit/loss before tax 2 230                     5 609                     

FX (149)                       (6 521)                    

Interest deduction -                         2 624                     

Other permanent differences (151)                       45                          

Estimated corporate tax 1 931                     1 757                     

Effective corporate tax rate 19,0 % 6,9 %

Effect of resource rent tax (5 653)                    (8 843)                    

Estimated total tax (3 722)                    (7 086)                    

Effective tax rate N/A N/A

Taxable income Corporate tax: 31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Result before tax (10 138)                  (25 495)                

Permanent differences 687                        105                      

Effect on changes in foreign exchange rates 676                        27 570                 

Change in temporary differences (31 814)                  (92 608)                

Group contribution -                         5 404                   

Taxable income (Tax loss) (40 590)                  (85 024)                
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12. Tax for the year (continued) 

Deferred tax by temporary differences (corporate tax): 

 

  

The unrecovered interest carried forward is available for offsetting against future tax profit within ten years. 

There are uncertainty towards the deductibility on invested amounts connected to the resource rent tax.  

 

  

 

Resource rent tax – on land-based wind 

  

 

  

31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Tangible assets 286 971                 247 249               

Financial assets 27 279                   19 320                 

Trade receivables -                         (1 593)                  

Leases 342                        412                      

Provisions (33 219)                  (7 266)                  

Loans and borrowings (45 748)                  (54 310)                

Unrecovered interest carried forward (34 480)                  (34 620)                

Loss carry-forward (273 836)                (233 106)              

Total temporary differences (72 690)                  (63 914)                

Deferred tax liability/(asset) (corporate tax) (15 992)                  (14 061)                

Taxable income resource rent tax: 31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Result before tax Group (10 138)                  (25 495)                  

Permanent difference result Group vs subsidiary result (4 094)                    (2 444)                    

Permanent differences Operating Expenses 6 331                     5 706                     

Permanent difference Finance 3 265                     11 496                   

Permanent difference Nordex arbitration claim and Eolus dispute 37 056                   -                         

Permanent difference from prior years (6 403)                    -                         

Sequential effect (1 181)                    403                        

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (2 224)                    45 708                   

Taxable income (Tax loss) 22 611                   35 373                   
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12. Tax for the year (continued) 

 

The resource rent tax in Norway is accounted for under IAS 12 Income Taxes as it represents an income 

tax levied on the profits generated from natural resource extraction activities. This tax is based on taxable 

profit and gives rise to current and deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are recognised and measured in 

accordance with IAS 12. Including the resource rent tax within the scope of IAS 12 ensures consistent and 

transparent accounting for the tax effects related to our resource extraction operations. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities, net 

 

   

 

Deferred tax is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 

  

 

Accounting policies 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises the year’s current tax and changes in deferred tax. The tax 

expense relating to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year is recognised in the 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, and the tax expense relating to items recognised in 

other comprehensive income and directly in equity, respectively, is recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity. Exchange rate adjustments of deferred tax are recognised as part  

of the adjustment of deferred tax for the year. 

 

  

Deferred tax by temporary differences - Resource rent tax on land-

based wind

2025 2024

Property, plant and equipment                   170 594                   131 096 

Derivatives                   (10 246)                       6 640 

Total                   160 348                   137 736 

Deferred resource rent Tax loss carry forward                   (62 121)                   (62 120)

Deferred resource rent tax liability (asset)                     24 557                     18 904 

Tax rate 25 % 25 %

TEUR 31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Deferred Tax Asset Corporate tax (15 992)                  (14 061)                  

Deferred Tax RRT 24 557                   18 904                   
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12. Tax for the year (continued) 

Current tax payable and receivable is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as 

the expected tax on the taxable income for the year, adjusted for tax paid on account. The current tax 

charge for the year is calculated based on the tax rates and rules enacted at the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position date.  

 

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on all temporary differences between the accounting 

and taxable values of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future 

tax consequences attributable to differences between the carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 

and their respective tax bases, and on unused tax losses and credits carried forward. Urealised currency 

gain or loss is Deferred tax assets are assessed yearly and only recognised to the extent that it is more 

likely than not that they can be utilised 

 

The entites within the group have EUR as functional currency, while the current tax based on NOK 

functional currency. This may impact the effective tax rate when the exchange rate between NOK and  

 

EUR fluctiates. The revaluation of tax receivable and payable is presented as foreign exhange gain/loss, 

while the impact on deferred tax from revaulation of tax balances is presented as tax expense/income.  

 

When an asset retirement obligation or a lease contract is initially reflected in the accounts, a deferred tax 

liability and a corresponding deferred tax asset are recognised simultaneously and accounted for in line 

with other deferred tax items. 

 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets relating to losses carried forward when Management finds that 

these can be offset against taxable income in the foreseeable future. An assessment is made taking into 

consideration the effect of restrictions in utilisation in local tax legislation. Future taxable income is 

assessed based on budgets as well as Management’s expectations regarding growth and operating margin 

in the coming years. Changes in deferred tax resulting from changes in tax rates are recognised in profit or 

loss. 

13. Prepayments 

 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Advance supplier payments 398          9 000       

Prepaid Expenses 332          332          

GIEK Guarantee 4 510       4 194       

At 31 December 5 241       13 526     

Current 730          9 332       

Non-current 4 510       4 194       
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13. Prepayments (continued) 

Accounting policies  

Prepayments comprise incurred costs relating to subsequent financial years. Prepayments are measured at 

cost. 

 
GIEK Guarantee 

Øyfjellet Wind AS has entered into an agreement with Eksportfinansiering Norge (GIEK). The guarantee 

protects the beneficiary against credit losses. If a credit event occurs and the guarantee is being invoked, 

the guarantee will assume characteristics similar to a financial derivative. As no credit event has occurred, 

the contract is in scope of IAS 37.  

Øyfjellet Wind AS pays an annual premium for this guarantee. The total cost of the guarantee is amortised 

on a straight-line basis over the contract's duration. Initially, the annual premium payment exceeds the 

annual amortisation expense, resulting in the recognition of a reimbursement asset on the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position.  

 

14. Financial assets and financial liabilities  

Set out below is an overview of financial assets and liabilities held by the Group as at 31 December 2025 

and 31 December 2024 including a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values. Carrying amounts 

of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised costs are a reasonable approximation of fair values:  

 

  

 

 

  

TEUR

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade receivables 9 830            9 830            9 528            9 528            

Deposits 1 879            1 879            1 810            1 810            

Cash and cash equivalents 35 820          35 820          24 560          24 560          

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss:

Interest rate derivatives 17 033          17 033          12 469          12 469          

Power swap derivatives 10 246          10 246          6 641            6 641            

Embedded derivatives 15                 15                 209               209               

Total Financial assets 74 823          74 823          55 218          55 218          

31 December 202431 December 2025
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

 

 

 

Management considers that the Group has fulfilled all covenants required in the borrowing agreements to 

date and expects to continue fulfilling these covenants in the next financial year.  

 

There are no financial covenants attached to the bonds or shareholder loan. The Company is subject to the 

following financial covenants in the Note Purchase Agreement:  

- Debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) – Historical: On each Calculation Date, the Company must 

ensure that the DCSR for the preceding twelve-month period (or a shorter period if less than 12 

months have passed since Project Completion Date) is not less than 1.05 to 1. 

  

TEUR

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost: 

Trade and other payables 12 135          12 135          5 700            5 700            

Loans and borrowings

Notes 212 307        158 335        222 251        163 767        

Bond loan 80 298          77 121          80 060          73 462          

Shareholder loans 102 180        70 896          111 603        55 624          

Lease liabilities 7 727            7 727            7 703            7 703            

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:

Power swap derivatives

Total financial liabilities 414 647        326 215        427 319        306 257        

31 December 202431 December 2025

Interest rate Maturity

31 December 

2025

31 December 

2024

TEUR

Loans and borrowings

Notes 2,12 % Sep. 2045 202 067        212 156        

Bond loan 2,75 % Sep. 2026 0                   79 829          

Shareholder loans 7,25 % Sep. 2046 95 273          95 274          

Lease liabilities 3,28 % Nov. 2045 7 288            7 276            

Non-current 304 628        394 535        

Notes 2,12 % Sep. 2045 10 240          10 095          

Bond loan 2,75 % Sep. 2026 80 298          231               

Shareholder loans 7,25 % Sep. 2046 6 907            16 329          

Lease liabilities 3,28 % Nov. 2045 439               427               

Current 97 884          27 083          

Total financial liabilities 402 511        421 618        
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

- Projected debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) – Forward looking: On each Calculation Date, the 

Company must ensure that the projected DSCR for the succeeding twelve-month period is not less 

than 1.05 to 1. The projected DSCR is calculated using assumptions and figures from the current 

Financial Model. 

- Calculation basis: The DSCR calculations must be based on the figures from the Company’s most recent 

financial statements prepared in accordance with the borrowing agreements. 

- Equity Cure: For the purpose of covenant compliance, any Equity Cure amount received by the Company 

shall be included in the calculation of Project Revenues for the relevant semi-annual period. (An Equity 

Cure refers to additional equity capital injected into the Company to remedy or prevent a breach of 

financial covenants.)  

 

Additionally, the Company is required to comply with covenants related to Annual Audited financial statements, 

Unaudited interim statements, and other reporting requirements as set out in the borrowing agreements.  

 

No Equity Cure amount was received in 2025. In 2024, an Equity Cure was implemented by converting 

shareholder loan to equity in the amount of EUR 163,295 thousand, which was included in Project 

Revenues for covenant compliance purposes.  

 

Fair value hierarchy 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities as at 31 December 2025:         

 

  

 

 

  

TEUR Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair 

value: 

Interest rate derivatives 17 033          -                17 033          -                

Power swap derivatives 10 246          -                -                10 246          

Embedded derivatives 15                 -                -                15                 

Loans and borrowings:

Notes 212 307        -                -                212 307        

Bond loan 80 298          -                -                80 298          

Shareholder loans 102 180        -                -                102 180        

Lease liabilities 7 703            -                -                7 703            

Total 422 078        -                17 033          405 045        
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024: 

 

  

 

Description of contracts and valuation assumptions  

 

Embedded derivatives  

Embedded derivatives relate to prepayment options on bond loans issued in EUR. These are valued using 

a binomial pricing model that incorporates bond contractual terms, the Group’s credit rating, EUR interest 

rate curves, and foreign exchange rates. The model captures the optionality of early repayment and reflects 

market conditions at the reporting date. 

 

Power purchase swap derivatives 

The power purchase swap derivatives represent agreements to purchase up to 21.22% of the Group’s annual 

production capacity at spot prices, functioning as counter-hedging instruments. The fair value is estimated 

using a discounted cash flow model incorporating forecasted production volumes, contracted volumes and 

prices, and replacement prices derived from Nasdaq power market data. Key unobservable inputs include 

production estimates and forward power prices, which are subject to market volatility and management 

judgement. 

 

Interest rate derivatives 

The Group’s interest rate derivatives are floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps denominated in EUR. The 

contracts have a start date as of 2021 and matures in 2045. Fair valued is determined based on Mark-to-

Market (MTM) reports obtained from a third-party financial institution. The fair value is determined using 

observable market interest rates and yield curves. 

 

  

TEUR Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair 

value: 

Interest rate derivatives 12 469          -                12 469          -                

Power swap derivatives 6 641            -                -                6 641            

Embedded derivatives 209               -                -                209               

Loans and borrowings:

Notes 222 251        -                -                222 251        

Bond loan 80 060          -                -                80 060          

Shareholder loans 111 603        -                -                111 603        

Lease liabilities 7 703            -                -                7 703            

Total 433 234        -                12 469          420 765        
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

These derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation as the valuation is 

based on observable market data and does not involve significant unobservable inputs.  

 

Foreign exchange rates and discounting 

Quoted foreign exchange rates from relevant central banks are used in the valuation of contracts 

denominated in foreign currencies. Discounting of expected future cash flows is performed using market 

interest rate curves, such as swap interest rates published by financial institutions. 

 

Notes, bonds and shareholder loans 

The notes have a nominal value of EUR 235 million, mature in September 2045, and carry a fixed interest 

rate of 2,12%. The notes are subject to financial covenants as described above. 

The bond have a nominal value of EUR 80 million, mature in September 2026, and carry a fixed interest 

rate of 2,75%. There are no financial covenants attached to the bond. 

The shareholder loans have a nominal value of EUR 226 million, mature in September 2046, and carry a 

fixed interest rate of 7,25%. There are no financial covenants attached to the shareholder loans. 

The notes, bonds and shareholder loans are measured at fair value using valuation techniques based on 

discounted future cash  

 

Reconciliation of fair value measurement: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Embedded 

derivatives

Interest rate 

derivatives

Power swap 

derivatives

As at 1 January 2025 209               12 469          6 641            

Remeasurement recognised in profit or 

loss during the period (194)              4 563            4 287            

Purchases   -   -   -

Sales   -   -   -

As at 31 December 2025 15                 17 033          10 928          

As at 1 January 2024 201               9 477            8 668            

Remeasurement recognised in profit or 

loss during the period 8                   2 992            (2 027)           

Purchases   -   -   -

Sales   -   -   -

As at 31 December 2024 209               12 469          6 641            
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Accounting policies 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair 

value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the 

financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.  

 

Trade receivables and deposits are held to collect contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest (SPPI) and are therefore measured at amortised cost. 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)  

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and 

are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 

modified or impaired.  

 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and deposits. Due to their short-

term nature, carrying amount approximates fair value.  

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss under financial income and  

expenses. This category includes interest rate derivatives, power swap derivatives and embedded 

derivatives. 

 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss, loans and borrowings or payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in 

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s 

financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings.  

 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation 

process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 

fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in profit 

or loss.  
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14. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Fair value measurement  

The Group measures certain financial instruments, such as derivatives, at fair value at each reporting date. 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 

use of unobservable inputs. 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured and held at fair value are classified into one of three 

categories, known as hierarchy levels, described as followed, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 

 

The fair value of derivatives is mainly classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and is calculated 

based on observable market data as of the end of the reporting period. This includes interest rate derivatives 

which are valued using market observable inputs such as yield curves and interest rate volatilities.  

 

Fair value of level 3 assets and liabilities is primarily based on the present value of expected future cash 

flows. A reasonably possible change in the discount rate is not estimated to affect the Group’s profit or 

equity significantly. For further information on assumptions and significant unobservable inputs used for 

the valuation refer to note 2. 

 

15. Trade receivables  

 

 

 

TEUR 31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Trade receivables 9 830                      9 528                      

Total 9 830                      9 528                      
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15. Trade receivables (continued) 

The Group has material risks related to a single customer based on the amount of revenue gained from that 

single customer. However, Management limited risks through the aforementioned GIEK guarantee, which 

protects the beneficiary against credit losses. Refer to note 2 for further information.  

Accounting policies 

Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost less allowance for lifetime expected credit losses. The 

Group has assessed their expected credit losses on an individual level, and has deemed their expected losses 

immaterial, for which reason there has not been included any allowance.  

 

16.  Cash and cash equivalent 

Specification of cash and cash equivalents 

 

 

  

 

The Group's cash and cash equivalents are held with two principal banking counterparties: Rabobank and 

DNB Norge. Rabobank and DNB, each holds investment-grade credit ratings. Rabobank is rated A+ by 

Standard & Poor's and Aa2 by Moody's, and DNB holds a credit rating of AA- from Standard & Poor's and 

Aa1 from Moody's. Restricted bank deposits primarily comprise deposits for guarantees, pledged bank 

deposits and tax withholding funds. 

 

 

Distribution by currency: 

 

  
 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Cash at bank and on hand 35 820          24 560       

Market-based investments -                -             

Total cash and cash equivalent 35 820          24 560       

of which restricted bank deposits 4 164            4 136         

TEUR 2025 2024

NOK 1 155            767            

EUR 34 666          23 793       

Total 35 820          24 560       
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16.  Cash and cash equivalent (continued) 

Accounting policies 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and other short-term highly liquid 

investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. These instruments 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost. Money market funds, where held, are measured 

at fair value through profit or loss. 

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand that form an integral part of the Group's cash management are 

included within cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. 

 

17. Share capital 

The share capital of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS comprises ordinary shares with a nominal value of NOK 

11 per share. The share capital is accounted for at historical cost, reflecting the nominal value of the shares 

at their issuance. All shares are fully paid and carry no additional special rights. 

 

 

 

 

 

Translation of Share Capital to Functional Currency (EUR) 

As the Group's functional currency is Euro (EUR), the share capital, denominated in Norwegian Kroner 

(NOK), is translated into the functional currency using the historical exchange rate at the date of issuance 

for each share. 

 

Movement in share Capital

Number of Shares

Nominal Value per Share 

(NOK)

Total Share Capital 

(NOK)

As at 1 January 2025 3 000 000                     11,00                                      33 000 000                    

As at 31 December 2025 3 000 000                     11,00                                      33 000 000                    

Number of Shares

Nominal Value per Share 

(NOK)

Total Share Capital 

(NOK)

As at 1 January 2024 3 000 000                     10,00                                      30 000 000                    

Increase in par value due to 

Debt Conversion -                                1,00                                        3 000 000                      

As at 31 December 2024 3 000 000                     11,00                                      33 000 000                    

Nominal Value 

(NOK)

Date of 

Issuance/Revaluation

Historical Exchange 

Rate (EUR/NOK)

Equivalent Value 

(EUR)

Original Share Capital 30 000 000                   1 june 2021 10,1418 2 958 044

Increase from Debt Conversion 3 000 000                     19 December 2024 11,7620 255 059

Total Share Capital 33 000 000                   Weighted Average Rate 10,2704 3 213 103



Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS  

 

51 

Notes 

17. Share capital (continued) 

Pledge of Shares 

All issued shares in Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS are pledged as collateral for the company's bond loans. 

 

Capital Structure and Ownership 

The Group continuously assesses the need for adjustment of its capital structure. Øyfjellet Wind Holding 

AS owns 100% of the shares. The consolidated financial statement of Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS is avail-

able at the Register of Company Accounts. 

 

18. Provisions 

  

 

The Company has reassessed its future decommissioning costs, resulting in an increase of TEUR 24,420 

due to expected rises in future cost estimates and changes in other input factors. 

 

The litigation provision related to claims from a contractor during the construction phase, was fully reversed 

in 2025 following the results of the dispute with a cash award of TEUR 1,647 received. Additionally, a new 

provision was recognised in 2025 concerning the Eolus dispute, reflecting management’s best estimate of 

potential liabilities arising during the year. 

 

Accounting policies 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

TEUR Litigation Decommissioning Total

At 1 January 2024 1 647                     5 431                        7 078                       

Arising during the year -                         -                           -                           

Adjustment provisions -                         -                           -                           

Amounts used -                         -                           -                           

Unused amounts reversed -                         188                           188                          

At 31 December 2024 1 647                     5 619                        7 266                       

Current 1 647                       - 1 647                       

Non-current -                         5 619                        5 619                       
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18. Provisions (continued) 

Decomissioning liability 

The Group records a provision for decommissioning costs of the wind turbines. Decommissioning costs are 

provided for at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows and 

are recognised as part of the cost of the wind turbines. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax 

rate that reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount is 

expensed as incurred and recognised in profit or loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of 

decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs, 

or in the discount rate applied, are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset. The Group has chosen 

to capitalise decommissioning costs as part of the cost of its property, plant and equipment. 

Decommissioning costs are depreciated over the useful life of the assets. 

 

Litigation provision 

During the construction of the wind farm one of the contractors raised claims against the Group. In return, 

the Group has claims for liquidated damages caused by construction delay against that contractor. Parties 

were unable to settle the dispute before end of the reporting period. A ruling in the arbitration process was 

made in Q1 2025 to the benefit of the Group. See Note 2 for further information.  

 

The Group has received claim the supplier Eolus. On 29 August 2025, Eolus initiated arbitration 

proceedings against ØWAS concerning the financial settlement of the EPCM Agreement. The parties have 

so far failed to reach an amicable settlement. The Group is in a dispute of the purchase price with the 

supplier Eolus. In 2025, a new provision of MEUR 2.9 was recognised concerning the Eolus dispute. 

 

19. Financial risks  

Capital management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as going concern while maximising 

the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The capital structure of 

the Group consists of net debt and equity. Management reviews the capital structure continually to consider 

if the current capital structure is in accordance with the Group's and shareholders’ interests.  

 

Financial risk management 

As a result of its operations, investments and financing, Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS is exposed to market 

risks in the form of changes in exchange rates and interest rates, as well as credit risks and liquidity risks. 

The Group operates with a low risk profile, so that currency, interest rate and credit risks only arise based 

on commercial conditions. 
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19. Financial risks (continued) 

The Group’s financial risks are managed centrally in the finance function in accordance with the board's 

adopted policy and instructions, which set guidelines and frameworks for the company’s financial 

transactions. 

 

Interest risk  

Interest rate risk arises in relation to interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Current borrowing rates are based 

on a three-month EURIBOR plus a premium. If market interest rates increased by one percentage point, 

the interest rate sensitivity as calculated based on the loan balance to credit institutions at year-end 2025 

would lead to a yearly increase in interest expenses of TEUR 5,073. A corresponding decrease in market 

interest rates would have the opposite impact.  

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations towards the Group, leading to a 

financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily related to its trade receivables, receivables from 

group enterprises and cash held at financial institutions. 

 

The Group has no write-off policy with respect to trade receivables since revenue is generated through long 

term purchase agreements, which are secured by a GIEK guarantee. The counterparty risk is continuously 

monitored. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of trade 

receivables. 

 

It is the Group’s assessment that the exposure to credit risk is not significant. Impairment of receivables are 

deemed immaterial in both 2025 and 2024 due to the aforementioned GIEK guarantee (refer to note 2 and 

13). 

 

In terms of financial covenants for the bond loans, the debt service coverage ratio has to be greater than 1.05. If 

financial covenants are met, the Group has 90 days after compliance testing date for distribution. 

 

Currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that arises from changes in exchange rates and affects the Group’s results. 

 

The group's currency risks are not hedged. 

 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign 

currency at the reporting date are as follows: 
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19. Financial risks (continued) 

 

  

 

The foreign currencies to which the Group is mainly exposed fluctuate only slightly, therefore currency 

risk is deemed immaterial and no sensitivity analysis is disclosed.  

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group is monitoring the need of liquidity based on a ongoing basis. At 31 December 2025, the Group 

has loans and borrowings of TEUR 394,784 to ensure that the Group is able to meet its short- and midterm 

obligations. Management considers the Group’s credit availability to be sufficient for the next 12 months. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 

undiscounted payments which include estimated interest payments. Floating interest payments on bank 

borrowings have been determined applying a forward curve on the underlying interest rate at the reporting 

date. 

 

In terms of financial covenants for the bond loans, the debt service coverage ratio has to be greater than 

1.05. If financial covenants are met, the Group has 90 days after compliance testing date for distribution. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

TEUR 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Currency

NOK Accounts receivables -               87                 Accounts payable (4 547)               

SEK Accounts receivables -                 - Accounts payable (5)                      

Lease liability (7 727)           (7 703)               

Expensed remuneration (404 427)       (309)                  

LiabilitiesAssets

TEUR Maturity < 1 Year 1 to 5 year >5 years Total

Year ended 31 December 2025

Notes* Sep. 2045 14 691          56 203                          187 998                      258 892        

Bond loan* Sep. 2026 80 298          -                                -                              80 298          

Shareholder loan* Sep. 2046 6 888            34 533                          195 437                      236 858        

Lease liabilities* Nov. 2045 450               1 770                            9 364                          11 584          

Trade and other payables 12 135          -                                -                              12 135          

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 114 462        92 506                          392 799                      599 767        

TEUR Maturity < 1 Year 1 to 5 year >5 years Total

Year ended 31 December 2024

Notes* Sep. 2045 19 580          73 616                          231 861                      325 057        

Bond loan* Sep. 2026 4 699            83 784                            - 88 483          

Shareholder loan* Sep. 2046 23 217          34 533                          202 344                      260 094        

Lease liabilities* Nov. 2045 427               2 108                            8 675                          11 210          

Trade and other payables 5 700              -   - 5 700            

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 46 337          189 576                        399 017                      634 930        

* includes interest 
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20. Other disclosures relating to consolidated statement of cash flow 

Additional information about the changes to liabilities arising from financing activities can be found in the 

below tables: 

  

 

 

 
 

21. Commitments and contingencies 

Litigation provisions 

The Group is involved in an arbitration with one of its contractors regarding final settlement of certain 

obligations. The expected outcome is reflected in the Group’s accounts. 

 

Contingent liabilities 

The Group is involved in an ongoing appraisal case to determine the compensation to the local reindeer 

herding district, where the validity of the facility license and expropriation decision also is questioned. First 

instance court rendered its judgement in December 2025 and the level of compensation was determined by 

the court in line with the Group’s expectations. The reindeer herding district has appealed the judgement. 

The Group has no reason to expect a materially different result in the appeal court. 

 
  

TEUR Loans and borrowings Lease liabilities Total

2025

Liabilities at 1 January 413 915                      7 703                          421 618                      

Loans raised -                              -                              -                              

New leases -                              -                              -                              

Repayments (10 095)                       (448)                            (10 543)                       

Debt conversion -                              -                              -                              

Accrued interest capitalised 7 464                          -                              7 464                          

Interest paid (16 329)                       -                              (16 329)                       

Other (170)                            473                             303                             

Liabilities at 31 December 394 785                      7 727                          402 513                      

TEUR Loans and borrowings Lease liabilities Total

2024

Liabilities at 1 January 565 599                      7 736                          573 335                      

Loans raised -                              -                              -                              

New leases -                              339                             339                             

Repayments (5 100)                         (432)                            (5 532)                         

Debt conversion (163 295)                     -                              (163 295)                     

Accrued interest capitalised 16 329                        -                              16 329                        

Interest paid -                              -                              -                              

Other 382                             60                               442                             

Liabilities at 31 December 413 915                      7 703                          421 618                      



Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS  

 

56 

Notes 

22. Related parties 

 

 

 

*Basis of influence is indirect through ownership in Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS 

 

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS is the parent company of the Group. 

 

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which are related parties, have been 

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 

 

The major transactions with related parties are in connection with the shareholder loan received from Øyfjellet 

Wind Holding AS (open balance 31 December 2022). For further information please refer to note 14. 

 

There were no transactions with the Board of Directors. 

 
 

23. List of group companies 

Name  Registered office  % equity interest 

Øyfjellet Wind AS  Mosjøen  100 

 

 

24. Events after the reporting period 

The group has received positive ruling against Vefsn municipality on property tax regarding the valuation 

should be indexed to the 2019 general valuation level. The court rouling is not final, as the municipal has 

not concluded on whether they will appeal the ruling or acknowledge the ruling as it stands.  

 

  

Shareholders

Registered 

office

Direct/indirect 

ownership

Basis of 

influence

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS Norway Direct 100 %

Raven Projects II S.a.r.l. Luxembourg Indirect* 32 %

Tesseract Holdings Limited United Kingdom Indirect* 13,7 %

Nika Renewables Holding S.a r.l. Luxembourg Indirect* 13,5 %

Pangion Holding S.a r.l. Luxembourg Indirect* 13,0 %

Achmea IM Climate Infra-structure Fund HoldCo 1 B.V. The Netherlands Indirect* 10,8 %

European Sustainable Projects XVI S.à. R.l. Luxembourg Indirect* 10,8 %

Tesmena Renewables Holding S.a.r.l. Luxembourg Indirect* 6,2 %
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Parent Company Information  

The Company 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS 

Vestersidevegen 212 

8658 Mosjøen 

Norway 

Business Registration No.: 927 378 779 

Registered office: Mosjøen 

Financial year: 01.01.2025 - 31.12.2025 

Board of Directors 

Christian Heidfeld, Chair 

Daniel Metzger 

Executive Board 

- 

Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 

Dronning Eufemias gate 71  

0194 Oslo 

Norway 
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Board of Director Report 

Company Overview 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS was established on 7 July 2021 as a financing vehicle and holding entity, 

with its sole asset being the shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS. The company has no operating activities or 

revenue of its own. The business office is located in Vefsn municipality.  

Ownership structure 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS is wholly owned by Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS, which in turn is owned by 

investment funds and mandates managed or financed by Aquila Capital. 

Business Activities 

The company’s main activity is to hold shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS, which owns and operates the Øyfjellet 

Wind Farm in Mosjøen. All operational activities, employees, and revenues are located in the subsidiary, 

Øyfjellet Wind AS. 

Financial Performance 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS had no operating revenue in 2025. The company’s financial result for the 

year is primarily affected by interest expenses on shareholder loans and other financing costs. The 

company’s assets consist solely of the investment in Øyfjellet Wind AS. The annual accounts have been 

prepared under the going concern assumption. 

Corporate Governance  

The Board of Directors consists of two members. The company follows the Norwegian Code of Practice 

for Corporate Governance and has adopted relevant policies and procedures in line with group standards. 

Risk Factors 

As a holding and financing entity, the company is exposed to risks related to the value of its investment in 

Øyfjellet Wind AS, as well as financial risks associated with funding and interest rates. Operational risks 

are managed at the subsidiary level. 

Working Environment, Equality and Social Responsibility 

The company has no employees. The Board of Directors is committed to promoting equality and preventing 

discrimination in accordance with the Norwegian Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act. Social 

responsibility, environmental commitments, and ethical standards are managed at group level and through 

the subsidiary. 

Financing and Interest Rates 

The company has secured long-term financing through the issuance of bonds and by receiving shareholder 

loans from its parent company. The proceeds from these loans are primarily on-lent to the subsidiary, 

Øyfjellet Wind AS, to finance the construction and operation of the wind farm. Both the bond and 

shareholder loans carry fixed interest rates, and no significant fluctuations are expected.  
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Interest expenses related to these financing arrangements constitute the main financial cost for Øyfjellet 

Wind Investment AS. 

 

Outlook 

The company’s future development is closely linked to the performance of Øyfjellet Wind AS. The Board 

expects stable operations and financial performance in line with the subsidiary’s forecasts. 

 

Going Concern 

The Board confirms that the annual accounts have been prepared under the assumption of going concern. 

 

 

Oslo, 26 February 2026  

 

 

 

Executive Board  
- 

 
 

Board of Directors  

 

 

 

 

     

Christian Heidfeld    Daniel Metzger 

Chair 
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Parent Company Financial Statements 

Statement of profit or loss 

  
 

 

Statement of other comprehensive income 

 

 
  

2025 2024

TEUR Note

Other operating expenses 2 137                   139                   

Operating profit/(loss) before tax (137)                  (139)                  

Interest income from group companies 10 059              19 293              

Interest income 128                   204                   

Financial income 4 656                4 699                

Financial expenses to group companies 7 464                16 349              

Interest expenses 2 438                2 976                

Financial expenses 22                     2                       

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 4 46 231              -                    

Net Financial items (41 313)             4 870                

Net profit(loss) before tax (41 450)             4 730                

Income tax expense (income) 3 948 658                   

Profit (loss) for the financial year (42 398)             4 072                

(42 398)             4 072                Net result attributable to equity holders

2025 2024

TEUR Note

Profit (loss) for the financial year (42 398)             4 072                

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss -                    -                    

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -                    -                    

Total other comprehensive income (loss) -                    -                    

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the financial year (42 398)             4 072                
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Parent Company Financial Statements 

Statement of financial position 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Assets
 31 December

 2025 

 31 December

 2024 

TEUR Note

Shares in subsidiaries 4 192 817            239 048            

Loans and borrowings 5 138 742            138 742            

Other non-current receivables 6 1 879                1 810                

Derivatives 7 17 033              12 469              

Total non-current assets 350 471            392 069            

Other current receivables 33                     12                     

Tax receivable 3 1 083                1 083                

Receivables from group companies 5 11 766              18 137              

Cash and cash equivalents 16 2 920                3 915                

Total current assets 15 803              23 148              

Total assets 366 273            415 217            
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Parent Company Financial Statements 

Statement of financial position  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Oslo, 26 February 2026 

 

 

 

Board of Directors  

 

 

     

Christian Heidfeld    Daniel Metzger 

Chair 

 

 

Parent Company Financial Statements 

Equity and liabilities
 31 December 

2025 

 31 December 

2024 

TEUR Note

Share capital 8 3 213                2 958                

Capital increased, not registered -                    163 295            

Share premium reserve 173 562            27 522              

Other equity (27 928)             14 471              

Total equity 148 847            208 245            

Deferred tax liabilities 3 1 399                451                   

Loans and borrowings 7 0                       79 829              

Loans and borrowings to group companies 5,6,7 95 273              95 273              

Total non-current liabilities 96 672              175 553            

Trade and other payables 35                     0                       

Tax payable (1)                      -                    

Short-term loans and borrowings 80 298              231                   

Short-term loans and borrowings to group companies 5,9 7 464                16 329              

Amounts due to group companies 32 959              14 858              

Total current liabilities 120 754            31 419              

Total equity and liabilities 366 273            415 217            

yegenes
Stamp
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Statement of changes in equity  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Share

 Capital

 Share 

premium 

reserve 

 Other 

equity 

 Capital 

increased, not 

registered 

Total 

equity

TEUR

Equity at 1. January 2025 2 958                27 521              14 471              163 295              44 950              

Registration of capital 255                   163 040            (163 295)             -                    

Repayment share premium (17 000)             (17 000)             

Net profit/(loss) for the period - - (42 398)             (42 398)             

Other comprehensive income - - - -                      -

Balance at 31. December 2025 3 213                173 561            (27 928)             -                      148 847            

Share 

Capital

 Share 

premium 

reserve 

 Other 

equity 

 Capital decided, 

not registered 

Total 

equity

TEUR

Equity at 1. January 2024 2 958                27 521              10 398              -                      40 878              

Debt conversion - 163 295              163 295            

Net profit/(loss) for the period - - 4 072                4 072                

Other comprehensive income - - - -                      -

Balance at 31. December 2024 2 958                27 521              14 471              163 295              208 245            

The debt conversion of the shareholder Loans was carried out on 19.12.2024 and registration date was 04.02.2025
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Parent Company Financial Statements 

Statement of cash flow 

Indirect method

TEUR

 1 January - 31 

December 2025 

 1 January - 31 

December 2024 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS:

Operating profit/(loss) (137) (139) 

Change in other receivables (21) 1 

Change in trade and other payables 35 -

Interest received 16 560 3 758 

Interest paid (18 768) (2 237) 

Income taxes, received/(paid) - (1) 

Non cash items 235 (0) 

Net cash flow from operations (2 095) 1 380 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES: 

Increase in loan from subsidiary 18 100 

Repayment of loan from subsidiary - 1 047 

Net cash flow from investment activities 18 100 1 047 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

Increase in shareholder loan -

Repayment shareholder loan - (1 100) 

Payment of dividend (17 000) - 

Net cash flow from financing activities (17 000) (1 100) 

Net change in bank deposits, cash and equivalents (995) 1 327 

Foreign Exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents -

Bank deposits, cash and equivalents at 1 January 3 915 2 589 

Bank deposits, cash and equivalents at 31 December 2 920 3 915 
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Notes 

1. Accounting policies 

2. Salary costs and benefits, remuneration to the chief executive, board and auditor fees 

3. Tax 

4. Subsidiaries 

5. Intercompany items between companies in the same group  

6. Receivables and liabilities 

7. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

8. Shareholders 

9. Related party transactions 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the Norwegian Accounting Act, Regulation 

on simplified IFRS ® Accounting Standards laid down by the Ministry of Finance on 16 December 2024 

and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.  

 

The statement of Cash flow  

The statement of cash flow is presented using the indirect method and shows cash flows from operating, 

investing and financing activities for the year as well as the Company’s cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning and end of the financial year.  

 

Currency 

The functional currency is in Euros, monetary items in foreign currencies are evaluated according to the 

exchange rate at the statement of financial position date. 

The Company has investments in EUR, and has also entered into a power swap agreement strongly linked 

to EUR. The financing of the Company is also in EUR. Monetary items in non-EUR currencies are valued 

at the exchange rate on the  statement of financial position date. Transactions related to general and 

administrative costs are in NOK. 

 

Currency rate at the statement of financial position date: 11,8340 EUR/NOK 

Average currency rate through 2025: 11,7177 EUR/NOK 

 

Classification and valuation of assets and liabilities 

Assets intended for permanent ownership or use in the business are classified as non-current assets. Other 

assets are classified as current assets. The classification of current and non-current liabilities is based on 

the same criteria.  

 

Current assets and current liabilities normally include items that fall due for payment within one year of the 

statement of financial position date, as well as items that relate to the stock cycle. Current assets are valued 

at the lower of acquisition cost and fair value. Other non-current liabilities, as well as current liabilities, are 

valued at nominal value.  

 

Shares in subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are recognised using the cost method in the company accounts. The investment is valued at 

acquisition cost for the shares unless an impairment has been necessary. The carrying amout is reviewed at 

each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of the investment is the greater of its 

value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. The investment in subsidiaries is usually assessed against 

their value in use.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Dividends, group contributions and other distributions from subsidiaries are posted to income in the same 

year as provided for in the distributor’s accounts. To the extent that dividends/ group contributions exceed 

the share of profits earned after the date of acquisition, the excess amounts represent a repayment of 

invested capital, and distributions are deducted from the investment’s value in the statement of financial 

position of the parent company. 

 

Receivables 

Receivables from other receivables are entered at par value after deducting a provision for expected losses. 

The provision for losses is made on the basis of an individual assessment of the respective receivables. 

 

Derivatives 

Derivatives are recorded on the statement of financial position at fair value, adjusted for net changes in fair 

value over net income.  

 

Interest-bearing debt 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans will be measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit when the obligation has been set off. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium associated with the purchase, 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate is presented as 

financial expenses in the statement of profit or loss.  Liabilities are measured at their nominal amount if the 

effect of discounting is negligible. 

Deposits 

The deposits are held to collect contractual cash flows that is not solely payments of principal and interest 

(SPPI) and is therefore measured at FVTPL. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost. Money market funds, where held, are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. Bank overdrafts repayable on demand that form an integral 

part of the Company’s cash management are included within cash and cash equivalents in the statement 

of cash flows. 
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2. Salary costs and benefits, remuneration to the chief executive, board and auditor 

fees 

Remuneration  

The company has no employees and the management and board has not received any remuneration. The 

entity does not have any pension plans.  

Auditor fees 

Audit fees expensed for 2025 amount to EUR 94 997 . The amount includes non-deductible VAT. 

 

3. Tax 

 
 

The tax effect of temporary differences that has formed the basis for deferred tax and deferred tax ad-

vantages, specified on type of temporary differences. 

 

  

TEUR 2025 2024

Income tax expense:

Payable tax -                    481                  

Correction previous years -                    -

Change in deferred tax 948                   177                  

Income taxes 948                   658                  

Taxable income: 

Profit before taxes (41 450)             4 730               

Permanent differences 46 231              -                   

Changes in temporary differences (13 861)             (805)                 

Group contribution -                    (1 705)              

Effect on changes in foreign exchange rates (471)                  (34)                   

Taxable income (loss): (9 551)               2 186               

Payable tax in the balance:

Payable tax on this year's result -                    481                  

Group contribution -                    (481)                 

Total payable tax in the balance -                    -

2025 2024 Change

Non-current receivables and liabilities in foreign currency (1 122)               (10 420)            (9 298)                  

Derivatives 17 033              12 469             (4 563)                  

Total 15 911              2 050               (13 861)                

Loss carry forward (9 551)               -                   9 551                   

Basis for deferred tax 6 360                2 050               (4 310)                  

Deferred tax (22%) 1 399                451                  948                      
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Notes 

3. Tax (continued) 

The Company has Norwegian tax loss carryforwards in the total amount of TNOK 113,115 and 0 as of year-end 

2025 and 2024, respectively (2025: TEUR 9,551, 2024: TEUR 0) that are available for offsetting against future 

taxable profits. The tax loss carryforwards do not have any expiration date. The tax note represents the tax 

position in EUR.  

Deferred tax liability per 31.12.24 amounts to TEUR 451 (1 EUR = 11,795 NOK) deferred tax liability per 

31.12.25 amounts to TEUR 1 399 (1 EUR = 11,843 NOK). 

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Norwegian tax rate: 

 

  
 

Accounting policies 

The tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income consists of tax payable for the period and the 

change in deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rate at 22% on the basis of tax‐reducing and tax 

increasing temporary differences that exist between accounting and tax values, and the tax loss carried 

forward at the end of the accounting year. Tax‐increasing and tax‐reducing temporary differences that 

reverse or may reverse in the same period are set off and presented net. 

 

4. Subsidiaries 

Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS owns 100% of the shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS, which gives Øyfjellet Wind 

Investment AS 100% of the votes in the company. Øyfjellet Wind AS has its registered office I Mosjøen. 

The annual result for the period 01.01-31.12.2025 was TEUR -18 908. 

 

Evaluation of investments in subs - Impairment assessment 

Management performs on a minimum, annually assessments of whether there are any indicators of 

impairment for its investments in subsidiary. Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds 

its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The 

value-in-use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (DCF) model, focusing on free cash flow to  

  

2025 2024

Tax calculated as 22% of profit/loss before tax (9 119)               1 041               

Permanent differences 10 171              (375)                 

Currency effects (104)                  (7)                     

Effective tax in TEUR 948                   658                  

Effective tax rate (%) N/A 14 %
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4. Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

equity. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the subsidiary until the end of the license period of 

the windfarm. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 

• Expected future cash-inflows which depend on pricing per MWh and the production volume  

• Resource rent tax  

• Discount rate 4,8 %  

 

Based on this assessment, management concluded that the value in use was lower than the carrying value 

of the assets, and therefore an impairment of EUR 46 million was required for 2025. The underlying change 

is based on updated assumptions, and losses in 2025 and 2026 compared to previous evaluations.  

 

Value in Use  

Estimated cash flows are based on next year’s budgets and forecasted earnings going forward. As the 

subsidiary has fixed price contract for 91% of the production, this is a main factor into the model. In 

addition, a long-term contract for the maintenance of the main components of the wind farm have been 

made, which in turn is used in the calculations for expected operating expenses including additional 

expenses based on history and expectations from management. Estimated future cash flows are based on 

expected production with seasonality including downtime. Critical assumptions in the assessment are 

related to WACC, expected production and pricing for the variable portion. In addition, the resource rent 

tax has been included.  

 

5. Intercompany items between companies in the same group 

 

 

 

 

  

Receivables 2025 2024

Loan to companies in the same group (Maturity > 1 year ) 138 742           138 742               

Other current receivables within the group (Maturity < 1 year) 11 766             18 137                 

Total 150 508           156 880               

Liabilities

Loan from companies in the same group (Maturity < 5 years ) 95 273             95 273                 

Other current liabilities within the group (Maturity < 1 year) 40 423             31 188                 

Total 135 696           126 461               
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6. Receivables and liabilities 

 
 

The shares in Øyfjellet Wind AS has been pledged for the bond loan of TEUR 80 000. The book value of 

the charged assets amounts to TEUR 192 817. The bond has an interest rate of 2.75% and a maturity date 

of September 2026. 

 

7. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

Set out below is an overview of financial assets and liabilities held by the Group as at 31 December 2025 

and 31 December 2024 including a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values. Carrying amounts 

of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised costs are a reasonable approximation of fair values:  

 

 

 

 

  

2025 2024

Receivables with maturity > 1 year 1 879               1 810                   

Non-current debt with maturity < 1 year 80 000                 

TEUR

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Financial assets measured at amortized cost:

Loan to group company              148 801             148 801                  155 172               155 172  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Interest rate derivatives 17 033              17 033             12 469                 12 469              

Total financial assets 165 833            165 833           167 641               167 641            

31 December 202431 December 2025

TEUR

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Carrying 

amount

Fair 

value

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Loan from group company 18 100              18 100             -                       -                    

Bonds 80 298              77 121             80 060                 73 462              

Shareholder loans 102 737            70 896             111 603               55 624              

Total financial liabilities 201 135            166 117           191 663               129 086            

31 December 202431 December 2025
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7. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

 
 

Effective interest rate related to the bond is 3,123%. 

 

 

 

Management considers that the company has fulfilled all covenants required under the borrowing 

agreements to date and expects to continue fulfilling these covenants in the next financial year. 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Entity's financial assets and 

financial liabilities as at 31 December 2025: 

 

 

 

 

TEUR Interest rate Maturity 2025 2024

Loans and borrowings

Bond loan 2,75 % Sep. 2026 -                       79 829              

Shareholder loans 7,25 % Sep. 2046 95 273                 95 273              

Non-current 95 273                 175 102            

Loan from group company 4,00 % Sep. 2026 18 100                 -                    

Bond loan 2,75 % Sep. 2026 80 298                 231                   

Shareholder loans 7,25 % Sep. 2046 7 464                   16 329              

Current 105 862               16 560              

TEUR < 1 Year 1 to 5 year >5 years Total

Year ended 31 December 2025

Loan from group company 18 100               -                   -                          18 100               

Bond loan* 80 298               -                   -                          80 298               

Shareholder loan* 6 888                 34 533              195 437                   236 858             

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 105 286             34 533              195 437                   335 256             

TEUR < 1 Year 1 to 5 year >5 years Total

Year ended 31 December 2024

Bond loan* 4 699                 83 784                - 88 483               

Shareholder loan* 23 217               34 533              202 344                   260 094             

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 27 916               118 317            202 344                   348 577             

* includes interest 

TEUR Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value: 

Interest rate derivatives 17 033              -                   17 033                 -

Total 17 033              -                   17 033                 -                    
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7. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Entity's financial assets and 

financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description of contracts and valuation assumptions  

Interest rate derivatives 

The Company’s interest rate derivatives are floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps denominated in EUR. The 

contracts have a start date as of 2021 and matures in 2045. Fair valued is determined based on Mark-to-

Market (MTM) reports obtained from a third-party financial institution. The fair value is determined using 

observable market interest rates and yield curves. 

 

These derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation as the valuation is 

based on observable market data and does not involve significant unobservable inputs.  

 

Foreign exchange rates and discounting 

Quoted foreign exchange rates from relevant central banks are used in the valuation of contracts 

denominated in foreign currencies. Discounting of expected future cash flows is performed using market 

interest rate curves, such as swap interest rates published by financial institutions. 

 

Reconciliation of fair value measurement: 

 

 

 

 

 

Accounting policies 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair 

value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the  

 

Interest rate derivatives

As at 1 January 2025 12 469                 

Remeasurment recognised in the statement of profit or loss during the period 4 563                   

As at 31 December 2025 17 033                 

As at 1 January 2024 9 477                   

Remeasurment recognised in the statement of profit or loss during the period 2 992                   

As at 31 December 2024 12 469                 

TEUR Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value: 

Interest rate derivatives 12,469               - 12,469               -

Total 12,469              - 12,469              -
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7. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the company’s business model for managing 

them.  

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss under financial income and 

expenses. This category includes derivative instruments. 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss, loans and borrowings or payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in 

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The company’s 

financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings. 

 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

This is the category most relevant to the company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation 

process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 

fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the 

statement of profit or loss. 

 

Fair value measurement 

The company measures financial instruments such as derivatives at fair value at each statement of financial 

position date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 

based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 

The company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs. 

 

 

 

  



Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS  

 

75 

Notes 

7. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or  indirectly observable 

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 

• For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the company has determined classes of assets and liabilities 

on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 

value hierarchy, as explained above. 

• Fair value of derivatives is mainly within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and is calculated based on 

observable market data as of the end of the reporting period. Fair value of level 3 assets and liabilities 

is primarily based on the present value of expected future cash flows. A reasonably possible change in 

the discount rate is not estimated to affect the company’s profit or equity significantly. 

 

8. Shareholders 

The share capital of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS comprises ordinary shares with a nominal value of NOK 

11 per share. The share capital is accounted for at historical cost, reflecting the nominal value of the shares 

at their issuance. All shares are fully paid and carry no additional special rights. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of 

shares

Nominal value 

per Share 

(NOK)

Total Share 

Capital (NOK)

As at 1 January 2025 3 000 000        11                     33 000 000      

As at 31 December 2025 3 000 000        11                     33 000 000      

Number of 

shares

Nominal value 

per Share 

(NOK)

Total Share 

Capital (NOK)

As at 1 January 2024 3 000 000        10                     30 000 000      

Debt conversion -                  1                       3 000 000        

As at 31 December 2024 3 000 000        11                     33 000 000      



Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS  

 

76 

Notes 

8. Shareholders (continued) 

 

Translation of Share Capital to Functional Currency (EUR) 

As the Company's functional currency is Euro (EUR), the share capital, denominated in Norwegian Kroner 

(NOK), is translated into the functional currency using the historical exchange rate at the date of issuance 

for each share. 

 

 
 

The business adress for Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS is in Mosjøen.  

The consolidated financial statement of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS is published on Øyfjellet Wind's 

webpage: oyfjelletwind.no. 

 

Pledge of Shares 

All issued shares in Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS are pledged as collateral for the company's bond loans. 
 

9. Related party transactions 

The shareholder loan was issued in 2021 with a principle value of EUR 226 million. The loan bears interest 

at a fixed rate of 7.25% per annum and matures at 30 September 2046. The loan is unsecured and does not 

contain financial covenants.  

 

 

Further explanation to related party transactions: 

Transaction/transaction type 1: Interest income related to shareholder loan 

Transaction/transaction type 1: Interest cost related to shareholder loan 

  

Ordinary Ownership interest Share of votes

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS 3 000 000        100 100

Transaction type Counterpart

Relationship to 

the 

counterpart 2025 2024

TEUR

Interest income from subsidiaries Øyfjellet Wind AS Subsidiary 10 059                    19 293              

Interest cost to parent Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS Parent company 7 464                      16 349              
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9. Related party transactions (continued) 

 

Øyfjellet Wind AS 

Other current liabilities consists of accrued group contributions 

Other receivables consists of accrued interest on shareholder loan and group contribution 

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS 

Other current liabilities consist of accrued interest on shareholder loan and group contribution 

Counterpart

Relationship 

to the 

counterpart 2025 2024

TEUR

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS Parent company -                    16 329               

Øyfjellet Wind AS Subsidiary -                    14 859               

Counterpart

Relationship 

to the 

counterpart 2025 2024

TEUR

Øyfjellet Wind AS Subsidiary -                    18 137               

Øyfjellet Wind Holding AS Parent company -                    -                    

Other current liabilities

Other receivables
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To the General Meeting of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS, which comprise: 

• the financial statements of the parent company Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS (the Company), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2025, the statement of profit or loss, statement of other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and

• the consolidated financial statements of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2025, the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion 

• the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December

2025, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with simplified
application of international accounting standards according to section 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act, and

• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2025, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by relevant laws and regulations in Norway and 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) as applicable to audits of financial statements of public 
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited non-audit services referred to in the Audit Regulation (537/2014) 
Article 5.1 have been provided. 

We have been the auditor of Øyfjellet Wind Investment AS for 5 years from the election by the general meeting of the 
shareholders on 1 June 2021 for the accounting year 2021, with a renewed election on the 19 January 2024. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

The Group’s business activities are largely unchanged compared to last year. We have not identified regulatory changes, 
transactions or other events that qualified as new key audit matters. Impairment assessment of Property, plant and 
equipment have the same characteristics and risks this year as the previous 
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Key Audit Matters  How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Impairment assessment of Property, plant and 
equipment  
The Group’s Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) 
consist mainly of wind turbines. The net book value of 
PP&E was TEUR 420 405 and represented 76% of the 
Group's total assets as of 31 December 2025.  

 

Indicators of impairment were identified at the balance 
sheet date. As a result, management performed an 
impairment test by estimating the assets’ values in use. 
Management identified critical assumptions related to 
long-term price forecasts for power, expected production 
volumes, and the discount rate. No impairment was 
recognized based on this assessment.  

 

We focused on the impairment assessment of PP&E due 
to the material amounts involved. Further, determination 
of the assets’ recoverable amount requires application of 
management judgement, particularly related to underlying 
assumptions used to estimate the present value of future 
cash flows, such as assumed price curves, production 
levels, economic lifetime and assumptions related to the 
rate of return. 

 

Refer to notes 2 and 8 to the consolidated financial 
statement for a description of management’s impairment 
assessment. 

 

We obtained an understanding of management’s process 
for assessing the wind turbines for impairment. We 
obtained management’s model for estimating the value in 
use and evaluated the appropriateness of the model with 
respect to relevant accounting and valuation practices. 
We tested the valuation model for mathematical accuracy.  

We assessed the assumptions applied by management in 
estimating future cash flows by:  

• Reviewing and verifying that the independent third-
party price curves used in the impairment model were 
based on the views from various well-known market 
participants;  

• Comparing expected production levels to agreements 
and historical production data, and;  

• Comparing the facilities expected, and economic 
lifetime to industry practice. 

We also compared the elements of the applied discount 
rate to observable market data. We found the 
assumptions applied by management to be within a 
reasonable range.  

We read the disclosures in notes 2 and 8 to the 
consolidated financial statement and found the provided  

information to be adequate. 

 
Other Information 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information in the Board of 
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The other information comprises 
information in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the information in the Board of Directors’ report nor the other 
information accompanying the financial statements. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of Directors’ report and the 
other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to consider if there is material inconsistency 
between the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements and the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’ report and the other information 
accompanying the financial statements otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We are required to report if there is 
a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the other information accompanying the financial statements. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report 

• is consistent with the financial statements and 
• contains the information required by applicable statutory requirements. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with simplified application of international accounting standards according to the Norwegian Accounting Act 
section 3-9, and for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. Management is responsible for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 



 

3 / 4 

 

 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's and the Group's internal control. 
 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 
 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company's and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a 
true and fair view. 
 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Oslo, 27 February 2026 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 

Marius Thorsrud 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
(This document is signed electronically) 
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